
G
LI Finance Lim

ited Annual Report 2020

GLI Finance Limited

Annual Report 2020

Multi-jurisdictional 
asset backed 
alternative lender



 

Contents
Overview
Highlights 1
Chairman’s statement 2
Chief Executive Officer’s review 4
Chief Financial Officer’s report 7
Group Strategic plan 10
Principal risks, uncertainties  
and related internal controls  12

Corporate governance
Board of Directors and GLI Executive Team 14
Governance framework 16
Board committee structure 18
Risk management and internal control 21
The Audit and Risk Committee report 23
Remuneration report 25
Directors’ report 27

Financial statements
Independent auditor’s report to the  
members of GLI Finance Limited 31
Consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 37
Consolidated statement  
of financial position  38
Consolidated statement  
of changes in shareholders’ equity 39
Consolidated statement of cash flows  40
Notes to the financial statements 41-76

Additional information
Officers and professional advisers 77

THE SUCCESSFUL FUND RAISE  
AND DEBT RESTRUCTURING  
HAS ENSURED THE COMPANY  
IS APPROPRIATELY CAPITALISED  
TO MAXIMISE SHAREHOLDER VALUE.



S
trategic report

C
orporate governance

Financial statem
ents

A
dditional inform

ation

1GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

Group highlights
 > Group revenue for the year was £10.9m (2019: £13.1m) partly due 

to the runoff of the BMS UK Fund and on balance sheet loans, and 
lower transaction revenue from the impact of Covid-19;

 > Group operating loss for the year was £5.5m (2019: £0.6m loss) 
with an increase in IFRS 9 adjustments of £4.7m as we factor in 
expected future impact on loan recoveries;

 > Group retained loss for the year was £14.5m (2019: £9.9m loss) 
which has been impacted materially by the decision to take a £6m 
write down on the FinTech Ventures portfolio which is now valued 
at nil, as well as the reduction in valuation of our holding in Sancus 
IOM Holdings Limited due to current market conditions; 

 > Focus on operating costs has continued into 2020 with headcount 
reduction and additional cost saving initiatives put in place 
following the outbreak of Covid-19, reducing operating costs by 
£1.4m from the previous year; and

 > A fundraising and debt restructuring, completed in December 
2020, included:

 — £4m of new equity raised at a price of 2.25 pence per share;

 — The Zero Dividend Preference shares (“ZDPs”) were extended 
for a further two years to 5 December 2022 with an 8% coupon. 
At 31 December 2020, the amount due was £12.4m (2019: 
£16.8m);

 — The £10m bond which was repayable on 30 June 2021 (the 
“GLI Bonds”) was repaid early on 21 December 2020 and a new 
five-year Bond of £12.575m was issued at a 7% p.a. coupon with 
warrants attached. 

 — The facility with Honeycomb Investment Trust plc (“HIT”) was 
increased from £45m to £75m and extended by three years to 
28 January 2024.

Sancus BMS highlights
 > We continue to divest assets where return on capital, on a risk 

adjusted basis, is below other areas of the business in line with our 
objective of efficient capital allocation. This has led to a gradual 
reduction in our SME lending activities where loans tend to deserve 
a higher risk weighting and require significant use of our own 
balance sheet. We have redirected resources to our core asset 
backed secured lending activities where third-party funding is 
more accessible and our balance sheet less utilised;

 > In line with our focus to improve asset efficiency and the quality of 
our financials, Sancus’s on-balance sheet loan exposure (excluding 
BMS) reduced by 44% in the year from £12.9m to £7.2m, with 
Sancus revenue (excluding BMS) falling by far less, 20% from 
£8.1m to £6.5m;

 > During the year almost £100m was returned to Co-Funders from 
the successful repayment of loans;

 > The Sancus team in all jurisdictions have continued working during 
the lockdown (primarily from home); 

The Covid-19 pandemic negatively impacted our 
performance for the majority of 2020, contributing to 
an operating loss of £5.5m (2019: loss £0.6m) of which 
£4.7m related to an adjustment to our expected credit 
loss provision. We have taken a cautious view of our 
loan exposure as although we have not seen any losses 
materialise we are mindful of the pressures created by 
Covid-19. We also took a material write-down on the 
FinTech Ventures portfolio with a total net write down of 
£6m for the full year (2019: £7.5m).

As announced on 4 December 2020 in conjunction 
with Somerston Fintech Limited the Company’s largest 
shareholder, we were delighted to report that we had 
completed a successful fund raise and debt restructuring of 
the Group. This has ensured the Company is appropriately 
capitalised to maximise shareholder value as we come out 
of the pandemic and was a fantastic result amidst what has 
been a very turbulent time for us all. I would like to thank all 
shareholders for their continued support during this time.

Andrew Whelan
Chief Executive Officer

 > We continue to diversify and broaden our sources of capital and 
lending capacity. As at 31 December 2020, Sancus had loans 
outstanding of £171m (2019: £199m) with Co-Funders providing 
£164m, equating to a co-funding ratio of 96% (up from 94% at 
December 2019); and

 > Business in the UK and Ireland continues to expand with strong 
pipelines and although 2020 was impacted by Covid-19, these two 
key jurisdictions saw their revenues increase year on year by 30% 
in the UK and 139% in Ireland. 

Highlights
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Significant strides to lay  
the foundations for growth

Chairman’s statement

Patrick Firth Chairman

Our focus for the foreseeable 
future is growing the UK and Irish 
operations and continuing to 
expand the offshore jurisdictions.”

Overview
2020 has been a challenging year as we, like many businesses, have 
had to adapt to the challenges facing our operations. The Executive 
Team and wider staff have nevertheless remained committed and 
continued to operate as normal as possible under these challenging 
conditions. The return of almost £100m of loans to Co-Funders in 
the year underpins this hard work and dedication of the team, which 
has always been focussed on providing the best service possible to 
our Borrowers and Co-Funders.

A key milestone this year was the successful new equity raise at 
the end of the year as well as restructuring our debt (Bonds and 
ZDPs) and increasing and extending the term of our facility with 
Honeycomb Investment Trust (HIT). This provides the Group 
with the ability to focus on our growth plans where we see great 
opportunity within the bridging and development lending space 
from where many traditional finance providers are retrenching from. 
This transaction had the full support of our largest shareholder 
Somerston Group who participated in both the equity raise and new 
bond issue. I take this opportunity to thank all our shareholders and 
Honeycomb Investment Trust for their support. 

As set out in our announcement in November 2020 the Board has 
seen diminishing returns from FinTech Ventures, its portfolio of 
SME-focussed lending platforms, which has suffered from increased 
competition, the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and, due to its 
size, difficulty in raising additional equity. While the pandemic has 
impacted the Group’s property-backed and SME-lending business, 
the Sancus BMS Group trading is recovering and management 
has maintained a keen focus on efficient capital allocation and 
cost management. We have again seen costs reduce this year by 
a further £1.4m. 

The Board believes that there is potential for substantial growth in 
the Sancus BMS Group. The Board noted its intention to restructure 
the business, focusing its resources on delivering the business 
plan for this secured property focussed lending business. We have 
started work on this and expect over the course of 2021 to simplify 
the Group and will update shareholders of our progress in due 
course.

The Board also intends to rebrand the Company under a new 
corporate name to reflect this focus and expects to put a resolution 
to Shareholders in that regard at the Company’s next annual general 
meeting which is scheduled for 11 May 2021.

The overall results for the year are disappointing showing a retained 
loss of £14.5m, which is partly as a consequence of taking some 
further provisions on IFRS 9 that we believe is the right thing to 
do in this current market. Hopefully we are close to the end of this 
pandemic and we can return to some form of normality in the near 
future. We have also taken a full write down on our FinTech Ventures 
Portfolio, which accounted for a £6m loss in the year. 
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Our people
We have seen a reduction in headcount during the year but at the 
start of 2021 we expanded the team with two new senior hires based 
in the UK with significant real estate sector experience, which will 
help the Group realise its ambition to grow our exposure within the 
UK market. 

Dividend and shareholders
In line with our dividend policy, it is not proposed to declare a 
dividend for this year. We expect the Sancus offices in Ireland and 
the UK, together with a further focus on operational matters to drive 
free cash flow in future years. We fully intend to recommence the 
dividend programme but only at such time as the Company is in a 
strong enough position to make such payments. I am grateful to all 
our shareholders who have kept confidence with the Group through 
what continues to be a challenging period as reflected in  
the depressed share price. 

Outlook
We have made significant strides to lay the foundation for growth 
and operational improvements to create and build shareholder value 
in the Sancus BMS Group. The HIT funding facility, Loan Note and 
Co-Funder network helps to support this growth, but we are also 
continuing to secure a steady flow of new Co-Funders due to the 
attractive risk-adjusted returns that are available from our secured 
lending opportunities. Cash and Bond yields are at all-time lows and 
we believe these are unlikely to materially rise for a considerable 
period of time. Our focus for the foreseeable future is growing the 
UK and Irish operations and continuing to expand the offshore 
jurisdictions. 

As noted in the Director’s Report, following the successful fund 
raise last year and the refinancing of the Company’s debt liabilities 
(with the support of the Somerston Group), I will be considering my 
position during 2021 and am intending to resign from the Board  
and a replacement Chairman will be identified and announced in  
due course.

On behalf of the Board, I thank shareholders for their continuing 
support.

Patrick Firth
Chairman

30 March 2021 
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Overview
During 2020 we saw the business cope as well as could be expected 
with Covid-19. Although revenue was hampered by a lack of fees 
from new loans, all staff continued to work successfully from home 
during the pandemic and were in close contact with Co-Funders 
and Borrowers during this time. As Sancus is a multi-jurisdictional 
business we saw differing levels of lockdown in the locations 
where our offices are based. We have benefited from a spread 
of location risk where in smaller jurisdictions such as Guernsey, 
Jersey and Gibraltar the lockdown restrictions did not last as long 
as we have seen in the UK and thus have been able to get back 
to the “new normal” a little quicker. We ensured that Co-Funders 
were kept informed of developments within the business and 
took an empathetic approach with Borrowers who requested 
either extensions of their loan (if they expired during the period 
of reporting) or deferred interest payments. This has meant that 
coming out of the pandemic we have a very positive loan origination 
pipeline and during 2020 we returned almost £100m to Co-Funders 
from the successful repayment of loans. 

We continue to spend considerable time, energy and focus on the UK 
and Irish operations to ensure they are well positioned to grow over 
the course of 2021. We have started to see these efforts pay off with 
the UK in particular showing positive signs of growth, particularly 
with respect to development finance opportunities, notwithstanding 
the potential headwinds presented by Brexit. 

The equity raise and restructuring of our debt and extension of our 
credit facility with HIT has hugely improved the Group’s balance 
sheet position and will allow the business to focus its resources on 
delivering the strategy of Sancus BMS Group, the Group’s secured 
property focussed lending division. Further details of this are 
noted in the Chief Financial Officer’s report. We are delighted that 
Somerston Group has provided further support to the Company 
during a period of challenging events both globally with the global 
health pandemic and in the UK with Brexit. I would also like to thank 
all stakeholders; Ordinary and ZDP shareholders, Bond holders and 
Pollen Street Capital (the Manager of Honeycomb Investment Trust) 
for their continued support.

Long-term strategy and business objectives 
The overall objective remains shaping a capital efficient business 
that creates value and enables us to pay dividends. 

Sancus BMS is our core operating unit. The coordination across the 
executive and senior management team, complemented with strong 
new business development expertise, is delivering a healthy flow of 
lending opportunities. 

We are looking at our options for the FinTech Ventures portfolio 
and we will communicate any developments to shareholders as 
appropriate. It has certainly been a difficult, challenging and hugely 
disappointing journey over the years with the FinTech Ventures 
portfolio. Many of the platforms have reached key points in their 
development and the market for raising equity and debt financing 
is challenging, which has had a material impact on the latest 
valuations. 

The overall objective remains 
shaping a capital efficient business 
that creates value and enables us 
to pay dividends.”

Andrew Whelan Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer‘s review

Multi-jurisdictional asset backed  
secured lending service
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Covid-19 impact
As a Group we already had robust recovery plans in place for 
business disruption with a workforce fully equipped with remote 
access to enable working from home. This has meant the business 
has continued to function well during the prolonged period of 
disruption and we have maintained a high level of service. With 
regard to our lending practices, we had tightened our credit criteria 
prior to the onset of the pandemic, in anticipation of an increased 
possibility of a global recession and are applying even more stringent 
criteria during this difficult time. 

The majority of our lending exposure is asset/property backed, 
with only a small percentage of the portfolio exposed to the more 
vulnerable sectors such as commercial and retail lending. Our loan 
book is exposed primarily to development and bridge financing. 
The pandemic has created risks in the supply chain and to property 
values. However, the responses of Governments and Central Banks 
(globally) in terms of fiscal and monetary support to businesses 
adversely affected has been significant and in the main well 
thought through.

Communication with our stakeholders is a high priority and we are 
in frequent contact with all our Co-Funders to provide an update 
on the loans they are invested in and how we expect Covid-19 may 
impact them. 

With interest rates and bond yields at historic lows, the Sancus 
syndicated loan model will remain attractive to our Co-Funder 
base and, as Bank lending will probably contract further, we don’t 
think this will adversely affect our pricing model and will present an 
opportunity to increase pricing on certain lending proposals. 

Summary of financial performance
The Group results for 2020 produced revenue of £10.9m (2019: 
£13.1m) and an operating loss of £5.5m (2019: loss £0.6m). Revenue 
decreased year on year, which was expected as we run down our 
SME loan book and on-balance sheet loan exposure, but also 
due to reduced lending activity during lockdown which impacted 
transaction fees. 

The Group net assets have reduced in the year from £40.4m at 
31 December 2019, to £29.5m at 31 December 2020 predominantly 
as a result of the FinTech write down and as noted earlier the 
additional IFRS 9 provisions we have taken in light of the Covid-19 
pandemic.

Operations 
The Sancus loan book at the end of December 2020 was £171m, a 
14% decrease on last year (2019: £199m) as we saw almost £100m 
returned to Co-Funders over this period. As businesses get back to 
some sort of normality, we expect to grow the loan book.

Loan deployment for asset backed lending is a key metric we use to 
monitor the performance of the Sancus BMS Group. Over the last 
three years we have seen a steady increase in loan deployments 
from £102m in 2017, £115m in 2018 and £123m in 2019. We saw loan 
deployments in 2020 reduce by 44% down to £69m as lockdowns 
hampered the completion of new loans. The first quarter of 2021 did 
start off relatively slow as most jurisdictions were still in some sort 
of lockdown but over the last month, we have seen positive signs of 
the industry picking up.

Our relationship with Pollen Street Capital and the HIT facility has 
also strengthened our ability to fund larger loan opportunities with 
the increase in the facility from £45m to £75m and the maturity 
extended to 28 January 2024. 

Our on-balance sheet loans have decreased by 44% from 
31 December 2019 to £11.8m at the end of 2020, with the 
continued focus on improving return on tangible assets (“ROTA”).

Sancus BMS – (Table 1) 2020
2020 v 

2019 var 2019 2018

BMS managed loan book £14m (59%) £34m £40m
Sancus asset backed lending book £171m (14%) £199m £168m
Total Sancus BMS Loan Book £185m (21%) £233m £208m
Loan Deployments £69m (44%) £123m £115m
On balance sheet loans before IFRS 9 £11.8m (44%) £21.2m £26.0m
Average loan size £2.2m (8%) £2.4m £2.5m
Average loan terms – months 18.5 10% 16.8 18.5
Average LTV 63.2% – 63.3% 58.7%
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Chief Executive Officer‘s review

As set out in the last Annual Report we monitor performance by 
three key performance indicators. These include lending volumes, 
return on tangible assets (ROTA) and profitability. Lending volumes 
and profitability have been negatively impacted this year by Covid-19 
but we continue to focus on improving these over time. We have 
taken the opportunity following the successful capital raise and debt 
restructuring to work more closely with the Somerston Group in 
aligning our vision for the future. This will help create a more simplified 
Group over the course of 2021 and therefore going forward will be 
reporting on the new simplified Group basis, meaning the ROTA 
reported previously, which was on Sancus BMS Group only, would 
not be on a like for like basis. We will commence reporting ROTA 
from the end of 2021 once the Group restructuring has completed.

Sancus Loan Notes and Amberton
The Sancus Loan Notes (“SLNs”) comprise a planned series of Special 
Purpose Vehicles (“SPVs”) designed to act like securitisation vehicles 
to help diversify our funding options and enable additional Co-Funder 
participation in a diversified loan portfolio. These are attractive to new 
clients that want to participate in a pooled vehicle, delivered across a 
number of loans, rather than via direct participation in individual loans. 
At 31 December 2020 there are two loan notes in place, SLN5 which is 
at £19.6m and matures on 8 November 2021 and has a coupon of 7%. 
SLN6 currently stands at £4.4m and also matures on 30 November 
2021. As part of the structure of the loan notes, Sancus BMS has 
provided a 10% first loss position on SLN5. On SLN6 Sancus BMS has 
not provided a first loss position. 

In January 2021 Amberton Limited was established as a joint venture 
and is located in Jersey. It is the intention to launch SLN7 in the first 
half of 2021 and the Board notes that we expect the majority of 
investors within SLN5 and SLN6 will roll into this new SLN7 to create 
one larger loan note. To facilitate this process and maximize the take 
up of SNL7, Sancus may acquire some of the loans held within SLN5 
and SLN6 and take them onto its own balance sheet. The Board notes 
that this is deviation away from its stated strategy of reducing our on 
balance sheet exposure, ensuring the Company has adequate funding 
sources is a key driver for future growth and we expect these loans to 
be held on balance sheet for a relatively short period of time based on 
the maturity loan date profile. 

BMS
Following the sale of the BMS Irish Fund loans in 2018, the BMS UK 
Fund entered into run-off in 2019 and the UK Fund balance is now 
£4.5m (2019: £8.2m) with £0.9m IFRS 9 provision applied (2019: 
£1.1m). During the year we sold our holding in the administrator of the 
fund, BMS AB for a nominal amount (Note 21). This is in line with our 
strategy to simplify the Group and with the rundown of the Fund this 
entity was loss making. 

Dividend policy 
The Group dividend policy recognises the need to balance dividend 
payments in the short term with the opportunities to grow the 
business for shareholders in the longer term. As such the Group’s 
policy is to make dividend payments, which is consistent with prudent 
capital and liquidity management, covered by cash earnings and 
realised profits on the sale of investments. In line with this dividend 
policy, no dividend is being declared for this period. 

 

Related party transactions
Related party transactions are disclosed in Note 24. There have been no 
material changes in the related party transactions described in the last 
annual report. 

Governance, risk management and operations
Effective governance processes both at subsidiary and holding company 
level continue to be a priority for the Board. This is critical to ensuring 
that only well-considered risks are taken, and expected returns emerge 
as planned. At Group level we have implemented projects to take a more 
strategic approach to the assessment, reporting and management of 
investment risk. 

The development of the digital trading platform continues with increased 
online functionality for Co-Funders. This has now been rolled out to 
Sancus UK clients, allowing them to participate online in asset backed 
lending opportunities. 

In addition, as part of the capital raise in November we have signed a 
relationship Agreement with Somerston Group in order to ensure that all 
shareholders rights are protected, and no undue influence is brought to 
bear by Somerston on the running of the Company.

Brexit
Geopolitical tensions and the impact of Brexit on the property market 
across all Sancus related jurisdictions (the UK and Gibraltar in particular) 
remains to be ascertained. Our view is that as the UK economy is moving 
closer to a heightened risk of recession, and we therefore expect the 
banking sector to focus more on the potential impact to their Tier 1 capital 
ratios, which may have a negative impact on their appetite for lending.

This creates further opportunity for alternative lenders in terms of both 
loan origination and the interest rate. However, the potential downside is 
increased risks associated with more volatile property valuations, demand 
from buyers of properties contracting and the potential for more risks of 
loan defaults.

Outlook
Last year was a year of reorganisation as we built out the Sancus BMS 
platform and restored the balance sheet of the Group, creating a firm 
foundation for growing the core business and creating significant value 
for shareholders. Our target was to deleverage our balance sheet and 
become a capital efficient business, which in turn will enable us to 
restart our dividend programme. Management remains focused on these 
objectives, which it expects to translate into improved profitability and 
ROTA over time. Covid-19 has negatively affected our results this year, 
but we are witnessing increased opportunities for alternative lenders, 
such as ourselves, and expect to see improvements in 2021. 

Finally, I want to thank all shareholders for their continued support during 
this period of change. I fully acknowledge that the journey to date has 
been disappointing. However, we have successfully aligned the business 
to focus on Sancus (which I co-founded), which through its multi-
jurisdictional asset backed secured lending service, is in a strong position 
to deliver future growth, profitability and in due course recommence the 
dividend programme. 

Please keep safe and look after your loved ones.

Andrew Whelan
Chief Executive Officer

30 March 2021
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Chief Financial Officer’s report

Overview
2020 was a challenging year for the business as we saw the impact 
of Covid-19 negatively hit our revenue growth targets. The Group 
during this time did however continue to operate and saw almost 
£100m being returned to Co-Funders from the repayment of loans. 
One key highlight of the year, as announced on the 4 December 
2020, was the successful completion of refinancing the Groups 
liabilities (ZDPs and Bond), raising £4m of new equity and extending 
and increasing our funding line with HIT from £45m to £75m. This 
means that the Group is well positioned to come out of the pandemic 
on a strong footing and be able to focus on growing the business. 
We will be focussed on the UK and Irish jurisdictions. Although they 
saw their revenues negatively impacted by Covid-19 in 2020, both 
saw an increase in revenue year on year. The liquidity of the Group 
has greatly improved following the fund raise with Group operational 
cash balance at the end of December 2020 at £11.3m. Noted below 
are the highlights of the debt restructuring and fund raise and the 
extension of the HIT facility. 

Fund Raise, debt restructuring and  
facility extension and increase
New equity raise
On 4 December 2020, 177,777,778 new ordinary shares were 
issued at 2.25 pence per share raising £4m cash. 77,777,778 shares 
of which were under a firm placing by our largest shareholder 
Somerston and 100,000,000 shares issued under an open offer 
raising £2.25m.

Bond
The Group previously issued £10m through a Bond that paid 7% 
per annum semi-annually, which was due to mature on 30 June 
2021. This was repaid early on the 21 December 2020 and a new 
£12.575m bond was issued on the 22 December 2020 with a 
maturity date of 31 December 2025. The coupon remains at 7% with 
the interest changing to quarterly. In connection with the Bond issue 
the Company has executed a warrant instrument constituting up to 
183,691,304 warrants to subscribe in cash for new ordinary shares at 
a price of 2.25 pence per ordinary share. Somerston participated in 
the Bond to the sum of £7.7m. 

ZDPs
The Group had 20,791,418 ZDP shares in issue of which 12,009,030 
ZDP shares were held in Treasury at 31 December 2020 equating to 
a £12.5m liability. These were due for repayment on the 5 December 
2020 but following shareholder approval these have been extended 
for a further two years to 5 December 2022 and remain with an 8% 
coupon with a final entitlement price of £1.6464 per share.

As announced on 26 February 2021, the Group intends to conduct 
a tender offer for approximately 25 per cent of the ZDPs due to 
complete mid-April 2021. The approximate cash equivalent of this 
will be £3.2m.

The Group further announced on the 26 February 2021 a Buyback 
Programme to purchase up to £1m ZDP shares to end no later than 
30 April 2021. On 1 March 2021 the Group purchased 40,000 ZDP 
shares at a price of 125.5 pence per ZDP share, on the 17 March 
2021 15,000 ZDP shares were acquired at a price of 130.0 pence per 
ZDP share and on 19 March 2021 a further 40,000 ZDP shares were 
acquired at 131.0 pence per ZDP share.

HIT Facility
As announced on 4 December 2020 the HIT credit facility was 
increased to £75m from £45m and the term was extended to 
28 January 2025. At 31 December 2020 the total drawn was 
£45.0m (31 December 2019: £44.3m).

Review of Income Statement
Revenue
Group revenue for 2020 was £10.9m compared to £13.1m in 2019, 
a reduction of 17%. Within this balance we have seen a continued 
increase in revenue from the HIT facility which increased by 25% over 
the year. The core Sancus operations being Offshore, UK and Ireland 
saw their overall revenue decrease by 24% on last year. 

The UK and Ireland asset backed lending businesses are our primary 
focus going forward. The UK office only became fully operational in 
April 2019 and although growth plans were constrained in 2020 due 
to Covid-19, the UK saw the largest new loans written in the year. 
Ireland, which was set up in 2018 has also shown positive growth 
signs even though there were strict lock down measures in that 
jurisdiction. 

Total cost of sales
Total cost of sales which includes interest and other direct costs 
has increased in the year from £5.1m in 2019 to £6.1m in 2020. This 
increase is predominantly through the increased utilisation of the 
HIT Facility (£3.8m in the year to December 2020 vs £3.0m for the 
comparative period). In addition, finance costs relating to the ZDPs 
have edged up slightly as the interest rate increased from 5.5% to 
8% on their extension to December 2020. Broker costs decreased, 
reflecting lower levels of loan origination. 

To measure business unit performance, finance costs are allocated 
to Sancus BMS to recognise its use of the Group’s debt facilities in 
its lending activities. FinTech Ventures is treated as being funded by 
equity. This allocation best matches the risk profile of each business 
unit with its capital structure, as well as recognising that interest 
costs are effectively serviced by interest income from Sancus BMS.

Emma Stubbs Chief Financial Officer
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Operating expenses
We continue to manage costs carefully across the Group and have 
seen total operating expenses reduce again this year by £1.4m to 
£5.6m for the full year 2020, representing a 20% reduction on 2019. 
Savings relate predominantly to employment costs whereby we 
have seen headcount reduce by 25% from 33 at the end of 2019 to 
25 heads at the end of 2020. We also brought in some cost saving 
initiatives following Covid-19 during 2020 with a pension holiday for 
all staff from 1 July 2020 (which has continued into Q1 2021) and 
Directors fees were reduced by 10% in the third quarter of 2020. 
Office costs were also reduced wherever possible and as part of a 
continued focus on cost savings for 2021 we will keep this under 
review. Over the last three years we have reduced operating costs 
by £3.5m (39%) from £9.1m in 2017 to £5.6m in 2020. 

IFRS 9
During 2020 we have seen Covid-19 affect the expected credit losses 
on our loan portfolio and we have had a movement in expected credit 
losses (IFRS 9) of £4.7m (£1.2m against the loan book, £1.6m against 
guarantees and £1.9m against receivables) in the year (2019: £1.3m 
against the loan book, £0.3m against receivables) following the 
methodology as set out in Note 23, which applies an expected credit 
loss model. The movement in the year has increased on previous 
years as we have factored in the potential impact of Covid-19 on the 
probability of default and future loss given defaults. We also take 
into account subjective judgement by the Board which is based on 
current information available at the time. With our total loan book of 
£201 million (this includes BMS and IOM loans) the total provision 
balance of £7.9m represents 3.9% of the loan book. The adjustments 
made take into account our first loss positions in HIT and SLN5 as 
well as our on-balance sheet exposure.

Other net losses
We have reported a £3.0m other net loss in the year (2019: loss 
£1.6m). A large part of this balance (£1.8m) relates to the impairment 
to the carrying value of assets down from acquisition value plus 
accumulated earnings in Sancus IOM Holdings Limited. In the half 
year report, the Directors took a conservative view and decided, in 
the light of Covid-19 and lack of deals being closed in the first half of 
2020, it would seem appropriate to eliminate the implied goodwill. 
This investment is now being valued at our share of the net assets of 
Sancus IOM Holdings Limited with no uplift for implied goodwill. This 
entity is in the process of being wound down and our share of the net 
assets of IOM (29.3%) will be returned to the Group over the course 
of 2021.

Of the remainder, £1.0m relates to Sancus Properties Limited 
whereby in light of Covid-19 we have reduced the holding value 
of this portfolio.

FinTech Ventures
As disclosed in our interim report we wrote down £4.2m against the 
FinTech Ventures Portfolio and in the second half of the year we have 
written down a further £1.8m taking the portfolio valuation to nil. 
This reflects the continued challenges we have seen the platforms 
facing during the pandemic. We are however hopeful that a couple 
of the platforms will surprise to the upside.

Review of the Statement of Financial Position 
The Group’s net assets have decreased in the year by £10.9m to 
£29.5m. The majority of this movement is due to the £6.0m write 
down on the FinTech Ventures portfolio, which is now valued at nil, 
and IFRS 9 loan impairment adjustments and incurred losses on 
financial assets of £4.7m. 

The Group’s liabilities are £73.4m (2019: £73.6m). With the debt 
restructuring at the end of 2020 and the two year extension to 
the ZDP maturity date, the Group’s current liabilities have reduced 
significantly from £18.8m in 2019 to £3.5m at the end of 2020.

Goodwill
Goodwill remains at £22.9m, which relates to the carrying amount 
of goodwill arising on the acquisition of Sancus Jersey and Sancus 
Gibraltar. This is assessed by the Board for impairment on an annual 
basis or sooner if there has been any indication of impairment. With 
the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020, management 
decided to bring forward the impairment test date to 30 June so that 
in future periods the annual assessment will be performed during 
the preparation of its interim accounts and calibrated to this key 
event when assessing performance of the cash generating units. 
As a result, the Board carried out a full impairment review of the 
carrying amount of goodwill as reported in the interim accounts. 
The resultant value in use calculation indicated that no impairment 
of goodwill was required in either Sancus Jersey or Sancus Gibraltar. 
As described in Note 3, the timing of a return to ‘normal’ levels of loan 
origination is a key source of estimation uncertainty within these 
calculations. 

Following on from this review the Board have considered whether 
there have been any further indicative events of impairment since 
June 2020. The Board are cognisant that the pandemic is ongoing 
as these financial statements are being written. However, they do 
not see this as a further event, more as a continuation of the event 
that arose in March 2020. Further details can be found in Notes 2 (h), 
Note 3 and Note 12.

Sancus BMS on-balance sheet loans and loan equivalents (Table 2)
On-balance sheet loan and loan equivalents have decreased in the 
period from £64.2m at 31 December 2019 to £53.6m at the end of 
December 2020. In the table below, we have split out the loan book 
held by Sancus Loans Limited (“SLL”) which although is consolidated 
in our accounts, is not our own equity, except for the £5m first loss. 
Excluding SLL, the on balance sheet loan book has decreased from 
£18.3m at 31 December 2019 to £8.4m at the end of 2020. This 
is from a combination of running down our on balance sheet loan 
exposure, and also an increase in the IFRS 9 provision in the year. 
As previously noted, the disinvestment from SME lending is allowing 
asset utilisation to improve, which will drive an improvement in ROTA 
and shareholder value over time. As we have also seen from our 
loan book funding, our access to capital has also improved allowing 
funding of asset backed secured loans from other sources such as 
the HIT facility, SLNs, a US fund under a forward flow arrangement 
and Co-Funders.

Chief Financial Officer’s report
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Investments in joint ventures and associates
This balance relates to our 29.3% holding in Sancus IOM Holdings 
Limited. This has reduced from £2.7m in December 2019 to £0.9m 
at the end of 2020. The reduction in the year is predominantly due 
to the expected credit losses management have applied to the net 
assets of Sancus IOM Holdings Limited taking a cautious approach 
to recoverability of some of these loans following the challenges 
seen with Covid-19. In addition, the decision has been taken by the 
shareholders of Sancus IOM Holdings Limited to wind down this 
entity. Sancus has agreed to a £0.5m closure fee. The expectation is 
as the Isle of Man loan book runs down over 2021 a cash return will 
be made to the IOM shareholders.

Other assets
This balance of £1m (2019: £3.3m) relates to the portfolio of assets 
held by Sancus Properties Limited. During the first half of 2020 we 
completed the sale of a large block of apartments which was sold 
for £1.6m cash (net of sale costs) reducing the assets now held in 
this entity to a large plot of land and a property being developed into 
three apartments which we expect will be sold/complete for sale by 
the end of 2021. 

FinTech Ventures 
Following the write downs in the year the fair value of this portfolio 
at 31 December 2020 is valued at £nil (31 December 2019: £6.3m). 
The Group still holds an equity stake in seven platforms and has 
debt mainly in the form of convertible loan notes where we retain 
the potential upside from being able to convert on favourable terms 
should the platforms deliver a successful opportunity for us to exit. 

As previously stated, the Board does not consider FinTech Ventures 
to be a core part of GLI’s future. The Board is therefore working to 
realise investments where we can and preserve and defend value 
where necessary. During the year we sold our equity stake in two of 
the platforms and received a small part payment of an outstanding 
debt. This amounted to £0.4m. Post year-end £0.5m was redeployed 
in an existing investment where the particular circumstances were 
entirely binary, that on balance, the Board believed the risk reward 
was in GLI’s shareholders interest. 

The valuation methodology employed by the Group is unchanged 
and remains compliant with IFRS 13, based on a fair value approach 
and taking into account the International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines (“IPEV”), which provides guidance on 
fair value valuation practices. 

Trade and other receivables
The balance of £8.2m (31 December 2019: £5.9m) represents 
fees and interest receivable on loans as well as a small amount of 
prepayments. This balance has increased by £2.3m in the year with 
£1.5m of this from interest receivable within SLL. We have also seen 
an increase in loan interest receivables as the majority of loans are 
on a rolled-up basis and over the course of the year we have seen 
requests for loan extensions. As part of the expected credit loss 
review, management have taken a view on the recovery of these fees 
and interest, and applied a £2.2m provision against these. 

Cash and cash equivalents
The cash and cash equivalents balance of £15.8m (2019: £7.2m) 
includes the cash balance held within SLL which is excluded from 
operational cash. Excluding the SLL cash balance, the Group cash 
was £11.3m at 31 December 2020 (2019: £3.2m). The cash position 
of the Group has greatly improved following the successful equity 
raise and debt restructuring in December 2020. 

As announced on 26 February 2021, it is the Group’s intention to 
conduct a tender offer for approximately 25% of the Company’s 
ZDPs in April 2021 which would equate to a circa £3.2m cash 
requirement. This will still leave the Group with sufficient liquidity to 
operate the Group and allow it to focus on its growth plans without 
cash constraints. 

Sancus BMS on-balance sheet loans and loan equivalents – (Table 2)
31 December

2020
31 December

2019

£’000
Jersey 5,111 8,434
Gibraltar 1,753 3,274
Guernsey 188 1,074
BMS – Investment in the fund and other loans 4,643 8,273
Sancus UK 46 91
Ireland 111 100
IFRS 9 Provision (3,409) (2,868)
Sancus BMS on-balance sheet loans and loan equivalents excluding SLL 8,443 18,378
SLL 45,579 45,885
SLL – IFRS 9 provision (790) –
Sancus BMS on-balance sheet loans and loan equivalents including SLL 53,232 64,263
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Group Strategic plan

Following a clear strategic direction

The Group’s strategy is to maximise shareholder value through growing the profitability of Sancus BMS and realising value from its 
investments in FinTech Ventures. We are focussed on the main key targets below, and our aim is to improve the performance of these KPIs 
gradually overtime. 

Become a capital  
efficient business

1.
Focus on creating 
shareholder value

2.

Profitably expand  
the funding base

3.
Realise value from  
FinTech Ventures 

Investments

4.

Strategic objectives



S
trategic report

C
orporate governance

Financial statem
ents

A
dditional inform

ation

11GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

We have been focussed on 
reducing our on-balance 
sheet loan book exposure 
and deploying these funds 
into acquiring and repaying 
the ZDPs. This in turn will 
de-risk our balance sheet 
and improve the Return on 
Tangible Assets (“ROTA”) 
over time.

Sancus needs capital to 
underwrite its deal flow but 
continual efforts to diversify 
and grow our Co-Funders 
improves our ability to 
syndicate and drive better 
returns on the Group’s assets.

1.  Become a capital  
efficient business

2.  Focus on creating 
shareholder value

We believe value creation will 
be achieved by: 

 > Revenue growth - this 
is largely driven by loan 
deployment.

 > Improving our ROTA – by 
reducing our on-balance 
sheet loan book and 
increasing operating profits.

 > Increasing operating profits 
- by increasing gross margin 
and reducing costs.

Over time we expect Ireland 
and the UK to be our largest 
revenue generating entities 
and as noted our focus is on 
growing these. The UK office 
was opened in London in 
April 2019 (after closing the 
larger Basingstoke office). 
Whilst revenue in the UK did 
increase year on year by 29% 
it was negatively impacted by 
Covid-19, however the pipeline 
is very healthy, and we expect 
to report a significant increase 
in the number of loans written 
during 2021. The position 
is similar in Ireland. The UK 
business also benefits from 
our own proprietary fully 
transactional electronic 
platform. These are the largest 
potential markets and are key 
for growth.

We saw a continued focus 
on cost saving in 2020 with a 
further reduction in headcount 
across the Group of 8 from 33 
to 25 heads.

3.  Profitably expand  
the funding base

Growing and diversifying 
pools of lending capital is 
critical for our growth. Our 
funding sources include 
institutional, corporate and 
high net worth individuals. 
We continue to launch further 
loan notes through Amberton 
Asset Management or 
similar structured vehicles to 
expand our Co-Funder base. 
We also continue to target 
the Co-Funder base and 
nurture relationships. The 
HIT funding line is designed 
to be complementary to our 
Co-Funder base and work 
alongside it to complete on 
larger sized loans which have 
a greater revenue impact on 
the Group. Following some 
large loan repayments in the 
year our total syndicated 
lending has decreased by 17% 
in the last year from £199m at 
31 December 2019 to £171m 
at 31 December 2020. The 
Co-Funder ratio however has 
continued to increase up to 
96% from 94% a year ago as 
we reduce our on-balance 
sheet exposure. 

We also continue to explore 
long term financing lines that 
sit alongside our syndicated 
lending approach. 

4.  Realise value from 
FinTech Ventures 
Investments

We continue to assist our 
investee platforms with 
strategy and corporate 
finance where we can. 
Unfortunately, many of these 
companies have failed to 
ramp up profitability within 
an acceptable timeframe 
and their ability to raise 
additional capital without 
proving concept is severely 
constrained. Monitoring 
and governance of FinTech 
Ventures continues. It 
remains a challenging market 
for many of the FinTech 
platforms. Some may secure 
much needed capital despite 
their maturity which will 
buy additional time to prove 
themselves. For others 
they may be forced into 
administration.
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Principal risks, uncertainties and related internal controls

Principal risks Internal controls mitigating risks Current rating of risks
Group

1. Capital and liquidity risk
GLI’s own funding is sourced primarily from 
the ZDP shares and the Corporate Bond  
(as detailed in Note 17).
For Sancus BMS, co-funding of lending 
opportunities is sought from institutional, 
high net worth and private individuals. 
Covid-19 may impact the funding sources  
in the short to medium term. 
Expansion of lending and investment 
activities will be constrained to the extent  
of retained profits unless further sources  
of funding are secured. 

GLI has a Treasury Committee which meets twice a month to 
manage its capital and liquidity position, and forecasts over 
several years to predict longer term funding requirements.
Management of each of the operating companies balance 
their lending and funding and proposals to advance lending 
are typically contingent on sufficient funding having been 
secured in advance. 
The business seeks to maintain a material liquidity buffer at 
all times. 

 Medium
Completion of the fundraising and liability 
management exercise in December 2020 
has significantly improved the Group’s 
capital and liquidity position. 
Management at Group and subsidiary level 
are focussed on raising additional on and 
off balance sheet funding in order to grow 
lending activities and support funding 
commitments.
Covid-19 continues to present downside 
risks to the cash flow position of the Group 
and potential loan impairments.

2. Regulatory and compliance risk
As a Financial Services business, 
compliance with regulation is considered 
paramount within the Group, particularly 
with regard to Anti Money Laundering 
(AML) regulations which are critically 
important.
The Company has chosen to comply 
with the provisions of the QCA Corporate 
Governance Code. Refer to page 16 for 
further detail.

All entities have developed and implemented appropriate 
policies and procedures relating to regulatory compliance and 
Anti Money Laundering.
The Group Compliance Committee monitors these risks, and 
forthcoming regulations, with appropriate reporting from the 
various Heads of Compliance and Money Laundering Reporting 
Officers. Further reviews of AML compliance are carried out by 
independent third parties where appropriate.
The Company has an appointed NOMAD, Liberum, with whom 
it liaises regularly, to ensure compliance with the AIM rules, 
including the Market Abuse Regulations. 
Boards receive quarterly reports from Compliance Officers and 
where appropriate, Money Laundering Reporting Officers on 
compliance monitoring plans and any breaches identified. 

 Low risk
The compliance framework as described is 
considered to be operating effectively.

3. Market risk
The primary market risks are considered to 
be interest rate and foreign exchange risk. 
Given the nature of the business operations, 
with relatively short term lending and 
currencies on lending opportunities being 
matched (or hedged) the exposure is 
considered to have limited impact on its 
position as a Going Concern. 
Foreign exchange risk primarily arises 
from the USD and Euro investments in the 
FinTech portfolio and Euro loans held in the 
Irish lending book.

Exposures to these risks are monitored regularly by the 
GLI Treasury Committee and reported to the Board on a 
quarterly basis.
These risks are identified and assessed at the time of 
entering into new transactions. 

 Low risk
More information on the sensitivity to 
these risks is contained in Note 23.
Covid-19 could cause interest rate and 
foreign exchange fluctuations although 
the impact of this we believe is likely to 
be minimal as loans have fixed rates and 
are short term. Co-Funders might look 
elsewhere to investment; however, we 
believe this to be a minimal risk as our 
lending model enables investors to receive 
attractive risk adjusted returns on asset 
backed lending.

The Group aims to carefully manage the risks which are inherent across its business activities in order to deliver an appropriate risk adjusted 
commercial return. The principal risks which the Group has consciously accepted in the pursuit of value creation are liquidity risk, regulatory 
and compliance risk, market risk, credit risk, strategic risk, and investment risk. With regard to the FinTech activities, exposure to investment 
risk is a factor of the strategic, liquidity, credit and operational risks assumed by the platforms in which the Group is invested.

This section on the Group’s Principal Risks should be read together with the sections on the Group’s Governance Framework, the operation 
of the Audit and Risk Committee, as well as Note 23 which describes the sensitivity of the Group’s financial results to its Financial Risk 
exposures. These sections explain how these risks are being managed, monitored and governed.

The table below describes the Group’s assessment of the principal risks which could potentially have a significant impact on the Group’s 
operations and financial results. The Group’s risk definitions are described in more detail within the Board Committee Structure on page 18.
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Principal risks Internal controls mitigating risks Current rating of risks
Group

4. Credit risk
The Group has direct credit exposures through 
its on balance sheet lending and credit 
support. Indirect credit risk (potential losses 
to Co-Funders) could impact further business 
development. 

Each operational entity has its own credit policies and 
procedures which are the subject of at least annual review by 
operating entity Boards.
The respective Credit Committees take all credit decisions, 
monitor credit exposures on an ongoing basis and manage 
recoveries situations. Following Covid-19 tighter lending 
criteria has been implemented.
At GLI level, a New Business Committee is responsible for all 
lending decisions.

 Medium risk
The IFRS 9 provision increased 
substantially during the year. However, 
the credit performance across the Group 
remains resilient with actual losses incurred 
being less than 1% of loans advanced. 
See Note 23 (5) for further details. 
Covid-19 creates downside risk through 
potential delays in loan repayments and 
reduced recoveries. While we believe 
that in many cases this will be a timing 
issue, there is an increased risk of losses 
materialising, depending on the progress 
of the pandemic and the measures put in 
place by governments in response. 

Sancus BMS

5.   Operational risk – execution of  
the Sancus BMS strategy

Approximately 80% of GLI’s capital has 
been deployed into the Sancus BMS group. 
There is a risk that the planned growth 
of these businesses will not be realised 
primarily as a result of sub optimal levels of 
loan origination and funding. 

The Board and Executive Committee of Sancus BMS 
recognise the challenge of building the business to meet 
the financial targets and actively manage all aspects of the 
business on an ongoing basis. Plans and budgets are in place 
and performance against these is monitored regularly by the 
management team and the Executive Committee.
There continues to be strong demand from both Borrowers 
and Co-Funders for the lending products offered across the 
business, and the risk adjusted returns available to Co-
Funders. 

 Medium risk
By its nature, this risk remains an on-going 
area of focus for the Board, particularly with 
respect to business development in the UK 
and Ireland.
The emergence of Covid-19 creates 
downside risk on new loan origination 
levels.
Cost control also remains a focus while 
IT capabilities for Sancus were further 
enhanced during 2020, providing Co-
Funders with online interactive services and 
creating operational efficiencies.

FinTech Ventures

6.  Investment risk –  
platform valuations

Across the majority of the FinTech 
portfolio, the growth rates have been 
slower than originally anticipated and 
the business models have proved more 
capital intensive. 
Many of the FinTech platforms require 
additional capital to fund their ongoing 
growth to enable them to reach 
profitability. There remains a risk that 
some platforms may not be successful in 
the longer term, either as a result of lack 
of loan funding, lack of working capital 
funding or difficulties in establishing 
a competitive position in their chosen 
markets.

The Group has board seats on most investee company boards 
and thus is able to participate in the strategic discussions and 
monitor the progress on each platform. 
The Group regularly monitors the progress of each business, 
with regular review of financial and KPI reporting.
Period end valuations are conducted for all investments in 
platforms. These are based on a variety of factors including 
the pricing for any recent relevant capital transactions by 
the respective platform or using an appropriate valuation 
methodology such as a discounted cash flow model. The 
forecasts provided by management of the platforms are often 
challenged, and where considered appropriate, adjustments 
are made and sensitivity analysis is included as part of the 
valuation work. 

 Low risk
As a result of the platforms taking longer 
to reach profitability, and given that 
several are seeking additional capital, the 
Board has reduced to nil the holding value 
of the FinTech portfolio during 2020. 
The valuations are also subject to 
a number of material estimation 
uncertainties, refer to Note 23 (4). 



Corporate governance

14 GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

Board of Directors and GLI Executive Team

Introduction
The Board recognises the importance of a strong corporate 
governance culture.

The composition of the Board is the subject of ongoing review. 
Somerston Group had the right to nominate a candidate for 
appointment to the Board and took up this right in 2019 with the 
appointment of Nick Wakefield.

Board of Directors
The Company operates a unitary Board Structure, comprised of both 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors. Biographical details of the 
Directors can be found below.

Mr Firth is a director of a number of offshore funds and 
management companies and until June 2009 was managing 
director of Butterfield Fulcrum (formerly Butterfield Fund 
Services (Guernsey) Limited). Prior to joining Butterfield 
Fund Services (Guernsey) Limited, Mr Firth was head of 
operations and subsequently managing director of BISYS Fund 
Services (Guernsey) Limited, where he was responsible for the 
administration of both offshore and onshore (FSA regulated) 
funds. He is currently a director of the following listed entities: IGG-
Longbow Senior Secured UK Property Debt Investments Limited, 
Riverstone Energy Limited, NextEnergy Solar Fund Limited and 
India Capital Growth Fund Ltd (all listed on the main market of the 
London Stock Exchange), JZ Capital Partners Limited (admitted 
to trading on the Specialist Fund Market of the London Stock 
Exchange), Guernsey Portfolios PCC Limited, and Investec World 
Axis PCC Limited ( admitted to the International Stock Exchange) 
and Global Private Equity One Limited which is admitted to the 
Bermuda Stock Exchange. Mr Firth qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with KPMG in 1990 having worked in the audit 
departments in Cambridge and Guernsey. Mr Firth graduated from 
the University of Newcastle and received a Masters degree from 
Bath University. 

Mr Firth was appointed to the Board, the Audit and Risk Committee 
and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee on 17 June 
2005. He is a Guernsey resident. Mr Firth is Chairman of the Board. 

Mr Whittle has a background in large third party Fund 
Administration. He has worked extensively in high tech service 
industries and has in-depth experience of strategic development 
and mergers/acquisitions. He has experience of listed company 
boards as well as the private equity, property and fund of funds 
sectors. He is currently a director of Starwood European Real 
Estate Finance Limited (listed on the main market of the London 
Stock Exchange), Chenavari Toro Income Fund Limited (admitted 
to trading on the Specialist Fund Segment of the London Stock 
Exchange) and one company admitted to trading on AIM, 
Globalworth Real Estate Investment (“Globalworth”).

Mr Whittle, a Chartered Accountant, has also served as Finance 
Director of Close Fund Services Limited (responsible for internal 
finance and client financial reporting), Managing Director of Hugh 
Symons Group PLC and Finance Director and Deputy MD of 
Talkland International Limited (now Vodafone Retail). 

Mr Whittle was appointed to the Board, the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
on 23 September 2016, after having served as an Alternate 
Director since December 2015. He is resident in Guernsey. Mr 
Whittle is Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee, and of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

The terms of Directors’ appointments are available from the 
Company Secretary.

On joining the Board, any new director will have received an induction 
through face to face meetings with existing directors, senior 
management and the Company Secretary.

The Chairman leads the Board and is responsible for its overall 
effectiveness in directing the Company, its corporate governance 
responsibilities, and addressing any training or development needs 
of the directors.

Patrick Firth Independent Non-Executive Director John Whittle Independent Non-Executive Director

 Executive Team  Board of Directors
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Mr Wakefield is an Investment Director for Somerston Group and 
Managing Director of Somerston Asset Management Limited. 
Mr Wakefield has 22 years investment experience in both private 
and public investments. He is a CFA and CMT charterholder. Mr 
Wakefield is also a Non-Executive Director of Amberton Asset 
Management Limited and Amberton Limited.

Mr Wakefield was appointed to the Board on 4 June 2019 and was 
appointed to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee on 
28 August 2019. He is Jersey resident.

Nick Wakefield Non-Executive Director

Emma joined the GLI Group in November 2013 as Chief Financial 
Officer and was appointed to the GLI Board on 16 September 2014. 
Emma is also a Board member of Sancus BMS Group and a number 
of the subsidiary entities. Emma was appointed as a Non Executive 
Director on Funding Options Limited on 24 March 2020. Emma is 
also a Non-Executive Director of Amberton Asset Management 
Limited and Amberton Limited.

Emma is a Fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants and qualified with Deloitte in 2004. She graduated 
from the University of the West of England with a BA Hons degree 
in Accounting and Finance. Emma is resident in Guernsey.

Emma Stubbs Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer

Andrew has over 25 years investment experience and is a Chartered 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment. Prior 
to founding Sancus in 2013, Andrew was a founding partner of 
Ermitage Group following its MBO in 2006 from Liberty Life, backed 
by Caledonia Investments. He left Ermitage following its successful 
sale to Nexar Capital Group in July 2011 and after a period of 
gardening leave joined International Asset Monitor as Managing 
Director to create a new Jersey branch. Andrew joined Liberty 
Ermitage in 2001 and was a Group Executive Director and Managing 
Director of Ermitage Global Wealth Management Jersey Limited. 
He was also CIO of Ermitage’s Wealth Management business and 
products and during his 10 year tenure won multiple investment 
awards. Prior to Liberty Ermitage Andrew worked for Kleinwort 
Benson part of the Dresdner Private Banking Group (between 1994 
– 2001) where he was a member of the Group’s senior investment 
committee. He started his career with Morgan Grenfell in 1987.

Andrew has been recognised in the Citywealth Leaders List since 
2007 and in 2019 was recognised in Jersey’s Top 20 Professionals. 
He is also included in “The P2P Powers 50 – The most influential 
people in the UK’s peer-to-peer lending sector” (Peer2Peer Finance 
News, 2018 and 2019). Andrew is resident in Jersey. Mr Whelan was 
appointed to the Board on 16 December 2014. 

Andrew Whelan Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer

Dan Walker Chief Operating Officer

Dan joined as the UK Managing Director in January 2018 and also 
became Chief Operating Officer of the GLI Group, effective from 
1 January 2020, following the resignation of Aaron Le Cornu.

Dan has worked in the finance industry since 1999. He started 
his career as a solicitor at Linklaters LLP, having read law at 
Merton College, Oxford University. After six years working on the 
legal aspects of structured transactions in real estate, trade and 
acquisition finance, Dan joined the Strategic Transactions Group at 
Lloyds Banking Group, originating and executing structured funding 
and investment transactions for the bank and its clients.

He joined Varengold Bank AG, a small German private bank, in 2015 
to head its London office and help develop its prime brokerage 
business and build a credit book focused on receivables and real 
estate finance. Dan has completed all three levels of the Chartered 
Financial Analyst examinations.
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Governance framework

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance throughout the Company’s operations and to ensuring 
that all of its practices are conducted transparently, ethically and 
efficiently. The Board believes that scrutinising all aspects of the 
Company’s business and reflecting, analysing and improving its 
procedures will minimise the potential for downside risk and will 
preserve shareholder value. In compliance with the AIM Rules for 
Companies, published March 2018, the Company has chosen to 
comply with the provisions of the QCA Corporate Governance Code 
(the “QCA Code”). The Company is also mindful of the provisions of 
the Finance Sector Code of Corporate Governance, published by the 
Guernsey Financial Services Commission in February 2016.

Where previously the Company reported against the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, the Board believes that applying the principles 
and reporting against the provisions of the QCA Code accurately 
reflects the nature, scale and complexity of the business and enables 
the Board to provide information to shareholders on its activities in 
accordance with the principles set out in a recognised governance 
framework. Furthermore, through applying the relevant provisions 
the Company is better positioned to mitigate downside risk and in 
doing so, preserve long-term shareholder value. The Company’s 
corporate governance framework has been based on these 
principles and is designed to deliver the Group’s strategy, and the 
application of such principles to the operation of the Board ensures 
that its decision-making processes remain focussed on the long-
term sustainable success of the Company. 

As at 31 December 2020, the Company complied substantially 
with the relevant provisions of the QCA Code and it is the intention 
of the Board that the Company will comply with these provisions 
throughout the year ending 31 December 2021, save with regard to 
the following: 

 > The appointment of a Senior Independent Director: Given the 
size and composition of the Board, the Board does not consider 
it is necessary to appoint a Senior Independent Director. The 
Board considers that all the independent Directors have different 
qualities and areas of expertise on which they may lead where 
issues arise and to whom concerns can be referred.

 > Internal audit function: The Board has considered the need for an 
internal audit function and is satisfied that the compliance policies, 
procedures and reporting mechanisms in place throughout the 
group are sufficient, and that implementing a separate internal 
audit function would be unnecessary. This requirement is 
assessed annually by the Audit and Risk Committee. 

How we apply the QCA Code
The Company has established specific formally constituted 
committees and implemented certain policies, to ensure that:

 > It is led by an effective Board which is collectively responsible 
for the long-term sustainable success of the Company and 
establishes a culture whereby the tone is set from the top which 
is consistent with the objectives, strategy and business model of 
the Group;

 > the Board and its committees have the appropriate balance 
of skills, experience, independence, and knowledge of the 
Company to enable them to discharge their respective duties 
and responsibilities effectively;

 > the Board establishes a formal and transparent arrangement 
for considering how it applies the corporate reporting, risk 
management, and internal control principles and for maintaining 
an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors; and

 > there is a dialogue with shareholders based on the mutual 
understanding and alignment of objectives, conducted primarily 
through the CEO and the Corporate Broker. 

Risk management remains a key area of focus during Board 
meetings. Details of the Company’s risk management and internal 
control framework is set out on page 21. 

In addition, the Company has adopted policies in relation to:

 > share dealing and market abuse;
 > data protection;
 > prevention of tax evasion;
 > anti-corruption and bribery;
 > whistleblowing; 
 > IT, communications and systems (including laptop and 

devices policy); 
 > Business continuity;
 > Complaints handling;
 > Compliance and AML/CFT Policy;
 > CPD;
 > Criminal Finances;
 > Cyber security; and
 > OECD CRS.

in order to ensure that the material operational and compliance risks 
identified by the Board are adequately mitigated. 

Composition and independence of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the affairs of the 
Company are properly managed through formulating, reviewing and 
approving the Company’s strategy, budgets, and corporate actions 
and that oversight, scrutiny and challenge is applied to Executives 
responsible for the day-to-day activities of the Group. The Company 
seeks to deliver long-term growth for shareholders and maintain a 
flexible, efficient and effective management framework within an 
entrepreneurial environment.

It is important that the Board itself contains the right mix of skills and 
experience in order to deliver the strategy of the Company. As such, 
the Board is comprised of:

 > Two Independent Non-Executive Directors, one of which serves as 
the Chairman, who is responsible for leadership of the Board and 
ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role; 

 > One Non-Executive Director who, whilst sharing the fiduciary and 
statutory duties of the independent directors, is also an executive 
director of the Somerston Group, a significant shareholder of the 
Company, and therefore not considered independent under the 
QCA Code; and 

 > Two Executive Directors, who are also members of the Group’s 
Executive Committee and are therefore not considered 
independent under the QCA Code.
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The Board is comprised of individuals holding professional 
qualifications and experience relevant to the activities of the 
Company. A detailed biography of each of the Directors is included 
on pages 14 and 15. 

Liberum Capital has been appointed as the Company’s Corporate 
Broker and Nominated Adviser under the AIM Rules and advises 
on compliance with the AIM Rules, corporate communications 
and acts as financial adviser to corporate actions. Additionally, the 
Company has appointed a professional Company Secretary who 
assists the Board of Directors in preparing for and running effective 
board meetings, including the timely dissemination of appropriate 
information. The Company Secretary provides guidance to the extent 
required by the Board on certain aspects of the legal and regulatory 
environment, within which the Company operates.

The Board believes that long serving Directors should not be 
prevented from forming part of the Board or from acting as Chairman 
and no limit has been imposed on the overall length of service of the 
Directors. Each Director will retire and seek reappointment at every 
third annual general meeting, with those serving for nine years or 
more subject to reappointment annually. The Board meets on at least 
a quarterly basis during the financial year.

The Board has appointed several committees to support it in 
different areas of the business; each with formal terms of reference, 
with specific roles as set out below. 

The Board undertakes an annual evaluation of its own performance, 
the performance of its formally constituted committees and that of 
individual Directors. This includes a formal process of self-appraisal 
reviewing the balance of skills, experience, independence and 
diversity present on the Board, and individual director performance, 
contribution and commitment to the Group to ensure that the Board 
and its committees continue to operate effectively, or to identify 
areas where action is required. The remainder of the Board is 
responsible for evaluating the performance of the Chairman. The 
Chairman also has responsibility for assessing the individual Board 
members’ training requirements.

The Directors remain mindful of the benefits which can flow from 
increasing the level of diversity represented on the Board including, 
but not limited to, cultural, gender, experience and background. 
Such factors will be taken into consideration by the Nomination 
Committee during any selection process.

Executive Team
As at the year end, the Company’s executive team comprised 
Andrew Whelan (Chief Executive Officer), Emma Stubbs (Chief 
Financial Officer) and Dan Walker (Chief Operating Officer 
and UK Managing Director) (together the “Executive Team” or 
“Management”). The Executive Team is responsible for the day-to-
day management of the Company’s operations. The non-executive 
independent Directors monitor and evaluate the performance of the 
Executive Team on an ongoing basis.

Governance structure

GLI Board

Remuneration and  
Nomination Committee

Audit and Risk 
Committee GLI Executive Committee 

New Business 
Committee

Compliance  
Committee

Treasury  
Committee

Compliance  
Committee

Credit  
Committees

Subsidiary  
Boards
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Board committee structure

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee conducts formal meetings at 
least twice a year. The Audit and Risk Committee’s key duties 
include:

 > monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the 
Company, including its annual and half-yearly reports and 
any other formal announcement relating to its financial 
performance, reviewing, challenging (where necessary) 
and reporting to the Board on significant financial reporting 
issues and judgements which they contain having regard to 
matters communicated to it by the auditor, and how they were 
addressed;

 > reviewing the Company’s internal financial controls and the 
Company’s internal control and risk management systems;

 > making recommendations to the Board for it to put to the 
shareholders for their approval in general meeting in relation 
to the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the external 
auditor and to recommend the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor;

 > monitoring the external auditor’s independence and objectivity 
and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into account 
relevant professional and regulatory requirements;

 > in conjunction with executive management, advise the Board 
on the overall risk appetite, tolerance and strategy of the 
Company, current risk exposures and future risk strategy; and

 > keep under review the Company’s overall risk assessment 
processes that inform the Board’s decision making, ensuring 
both qualitative and quantitative metrics are used.

The Audit and Risk Committee has three members, two of whom 
are independent, non-executive directors and one of whom is 
a non-executive director, and at least one member has recent 
and relevant financial experience. The current members of the 
Committee are John Whittle as the Chairman, Patrick Firth and 
Nicholas Wakefield. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is supported by a risk 
management and oversight process employed by the Executive 
Committee and receives reports on a quarterly basis from the 
Chief Operating Officer on key risks and developments during 
the period. 

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee are 
available from the Company Secretary.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The purpose of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
is to determine and agree with the Board the framework or 
broad policy for the remuneration of the Company’s Directors, 
senior executives, and any bonus-related arrangements in place 
by the Company as well as to consider the structure, size and 
composition of the Board. The key duties of the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee include:

 > determining and agreeing with the Board the framework or 
broad policy for the remuneration of the Company’s Chairman, 
executive and non-executive directors and such other 
members of the management as it is designated to consider; 

 > reviewing the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the 
remuneration policy;

 > reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board; 
 > considering the succession planning for Directors and 

Senior Executives; 
 > reviewing the leadership needs of the organisation; and 
 > identifying candidates for appointment to the Board. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has three 
members, all of whom are non-executive directors and two are 
independent. The current members of the committee are John 
Whittle as the Chairman, Patrick Firth and Nicholas Wakefield.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee are available from the Company Secretary. 

Please refer to the Remuneration Report on page 25 for details of 
fees paid to the Directors during the year. 
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Meetings and attendance
The Directors meet on a quarterly basis (‘Quarterly’ meetings per the 
table below) and at other unscheduled times (‘Other’ meetings per 
the table below) when necessary to assess Group operations and 
the setting and monitoring of investment strategy and investment 
performance. At Quarterly meetings, the Board receives from 
the Executive Team a full report on the Group’s performance. As 
necessary, the Board gives direction to the Executive Team as to 
investment objectives and limits and receives reports in relation to 
the financial position of the Group and the custody of its assets. An 
increased level of attendance to Company matters has been required 
of the Board over the 2019-2020 financial years, contributing to the 
high number of ad hoc meetings convened during this period. 

The Board is responsible for monitoring and scrutinising the 
performance of the Executive Team and has formally defined 
the types of decision which must be taken at Board level from 
those which have been delegated. Matters reserved for the Board 
include (but are not limited to) those which affect long-term 
strategy, appointment and movement of senior personnel, key 
service providers and their remuneration, communication with 
shareholders, corporate actions, determining the value of the 
Company’s investments and agreeing the terms for any borrowing 
arrangements.

The table below, details the attendance at Board and Committee 
meetings during the year:

Board

Quarterly Other

Remuneration
& Nomination

Committee
Audit and Risk

 Committee

Patrick Firth (Chairman) 4 of 4 32 of 34 6 of 6 3 of 3
John Whittle 4 of 4 32 of 34 6 of 6 3 of 3
Nicholas Wakefield 4 of 4 29 of 34 5 of 6 3 of 3
Andrew Whelan 4 of 4 32 of 34 – –
Emma Stubbs 4 of 4 28 of 34 – –
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Board committee structure continued

Relations with stakeholders 
The Board’s advisers and the Executive Team maintain regular 
dialogue with key shareholders, the feedback from which is 
reported to the Board and the Chairman. Shareholders who wish to 
communicate with the Board should contact the Company Secretary 
in the first instance, whose contact details can be found on page 77. 

The Board also regularly monitors the shareholder profile of 
the Company. All shareholders have the opportunity to and are 
encouraged to attend the Company’s annual general meeting 
at which members of the Board are available in person to meet 
shareholders and answer questions. In addition, the Company’s 
Nominated Advisor and Executive Team each maintain regular 
contact with major shareholders and report regularly to the Board 
on shareholder views.

On 4 June 2019, the Company’s largest shareholder Somerston 
took up their option to appoint a Board member and Mr Nicholas 
Wakefield was appointed to the Board. 

Whilst the primary duty of the Directors is owed to the Company 
as a whole, the Board takes into consideration the interests of all 
key stakeholder groups as part of its decision making process 
and particular consideration is given to the impact of any decision 
on holders of its securities, the Co-Funders to the underlying 
loan businesses, and providers of the Group’s long-term debt 
capital. The Board also recognises the crucial roles played by 
those involved throughout the Group’s operations who contribute 
to delivering strategy, including staff and key service providers, 
to ensure a continued alignment between their activities and those 
of the Company. 

Feedback from these stakeholder groups is provided through the 
Corporate Broker, the CEO, or through the Company Secretary. 

ESG Criteria (Environmental, Social, and Governance  
(ESG) Criteria)
The Board requires the Executive Team’s investment appraisal 
process and its subsidiaries’ lending processes to include an 
assessment of potential environmental, social and governance 
matters. 

The vast majority of the Group’s environmental impact is based 
around the office environment with each office taking various 
measures towards reducing their footprint, including initiatives 
such as printing only when necessary, ensuring lights and power 
are switched off when not in use and local recycling.

Approximately two thirds of the GLI Finance and Sancus Group 
staff are based on the islands of Guernsey, Jersey, Gibraltar and Isle 
of Man and live within short distances of their offices, with many 
staff walking or cycling to work or using public transport.

A number of staff in the UK office have flexible working contracts, 
allowing them to work from home during the working week.

Where possible, Board and management meetings are held via 
conference calls or coordinated to be grouped together in one place 
at the same time so as to reduce travel related carbon footprint.

GLI Finance and Sancus offices and employees in each jurisdiction 
support a range of local fundraising initiatives for chosen charities 
and causes. The wider Sancus Group works closely with Cancer 
Research UK in Jersey and Guernsey. Other charities supported in 
2020 include Research into Childhood Cancers, Gibraltar (RICC), 
Jersey Hospice Care, After Breast Cancer (ABC), Wetwheels, and 
The Sarah Groves Foundation (Guernsey). 

GLI’s Board of directors consists of four males and one female. 
Males make up 71% of employees in total across the Group.

Terms of Reference of Governance Committees
Committee Terms of Reference are available from the 
Company Secretary.
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Risk management and internal control

A robust, ongoing process of Risk Management  
and Internal Control
The Board and Executive Team are responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Group through establishing effective systems of risk 
management and internal control. This responsibility is shared by the 
Directors of subsidiary companies, who are similarly responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of these companies.

The Board is also responsible for deciding on whether the nature 
and extent of risks taken within the Group are within its risk appetite. 
Such risks have been formally defined (refer page 12), setting the 
basis for the design and implementation of the Group’s internal 
control framework. 

On behalf of the Board, the Audit and Risk Committee oversees 
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. These 
systems are designed to ensure proper accounting records are 
maintained and that internal and published financial information 
is reliable, and that the assets of the Group are safeguarded. Such 
a system of internal controls can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss.

Critical components of the Group’s internal control framework 
include the documented policies which describe how each risk 
is to be managed and governed and the governance committees 
established in terms of such policies, which have mandates 
describing how they should operate, what reports they should 
receive and how they should govern the management of principal 
risks. Such policies have been implemented at Company as well as 
subsidiary levels.

On a quarterly basis, the Group Executive Committee review the key 
risks across the Group to ensure they are being managed within the 
Company’s risk appetite. Action plans are drawn up if any risks are 
considered to be outside of the Company’s risk appetite and these 
are monitored on a regular basis until they return to levels back 
within the risk appetite. 

On a quarterly basis, the Board and/or Audit and Risk Committee 
receive reports on risk management, the key risks and the exposures 
outstanding. Also included in these reports are the results of 
Executive Management’s quarterly risk and issue identification 
discussions noted above. These meetings also provide the 
Directors with the opportunity to consider any other issues which 
management may not have identified and give direction on any 
additional risk management actions which might be required.

Described in the table on page 22 are the Group’s risk definitions 
and the primary governance bodies, other than the Board and 
Audit and Risk Committee which either manage or oversee the 
management of such risks, at Company and/or subsidiary level.

Insurance
The GLI and Subsidiaries Insurance Programme is subject to annual 
review each year, with cover generally renewed in February of the 
following year. A significant amount of Insurance cover is held for 
Public Indemnity, Directors’ and Officers’ liability, Cyber, and Crime. 
Appropriate office and travel insurance is also in place. 
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The Group’s risk definitions Governance Committees

1. Investment risk
Investment risk is considered to primarily arise from the FinTech 
Ventures portfolio. 

The risk that an investment’s actual return will be materially lower 
than what was previously expected. 

 > GLI Executive Committee
 > GLI New Business Committee

2. Capital and Liquidity risk 
The risk that the Group is unable to meet its current or future 
financial obligations as they fall due, or has to incur excessive 
cost in order to meet them. 

 > GLI Executive Committee
 > GLI Treasury Committee

3. Credit risk
 > Direct credit risk is the risk of default of an on-balance sheet 

debt that may arise from a borrower failing to make payments 
of principal or interest in accordance with agreed terms. 

 > Indirect credit risk is defined as the potential impact on the 
Group of defaults in loans arranged and managed by GLI’s 
subsidiaries which are funded by third party Co-Funders who 
carry the credit risk on these exposures. Subsidiaries do not 
carry direct credit risk in these circumstances but may be 
negatively impacted by consequential reputational risk.

 > GLI New Business Committee
 > Sancus Credit Committees
 > BMS Credit Committee

4. Strategic risk
The risk to the Group’s earnings and profitability arising from its 
strategic decisions, ineffective implementation of decisions or the 
failure to respond appropriately well to changes in the business or 
economic environment. 

 > GLI Executive Committee
 > Sancus BMS Executive Committee

5. Market risk
The risk of financial loss from changes in interest rates or foreign 
exchange rates through unhedged or mismatched asset and 
liability positions. 

 > GLI Executive Committee
 > GLI Treasury Committee

6. Operational risk
The risk of loss or negative impact to the Group resulting 
from failure of or inadequate internal processes, systems or 
human error, or from external events (including legal risk and IT 
related risks).

 > GLI Executive Committee
 > Sancus BMS Executive Committee

7. Regulatory and Compliance risk
The risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss as 
a result of a failure to comply with laws, regulations, rules, related 
self-regulatory organisation standards, and codes of conduct. 
This also includes the risk of material changes to the regulatory 
environment applicable to the Group’s activities.

 > GLI Executive Committee
 > GLI Compliance Committee
 > GDPR Committee
 > High AML Risk Committee
 > Sancus BMS Executive Committee
 > Sancus BMS Compliance Committee

Risk management and internal control continued
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The Audit and Risk Committee report

The Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee has a formal terms of reference 
mandate documenting the duties and responsibilities which it 
has been delegated by the Board. These are available from the 
Company Secretary. 

The Audit and Risk Committee has been in operation throughout 
the year under review.

Chairman and membership
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises of John Whittle as 
Chairman, Patrick Firth and Nick Wakefield. Only Non-Executive 
Directors serve on the Audit and Risk Committee and members of 
the Audit and Risk Committee have no links with the Company’s 
external auditor and are independent of the Executive Team. The 
Audit and Risk Committee meets not less than three times a year 
in Guernsey and meets the external auditor at least twice a year 
in Guernsey. The identity of the Chairman of the Audit and Risk 
Committee is reviewed on an annual basis and the membership 
of the Audit and Risk Committee and its terms of reference are kept 
under review. Regular attendees at the Audit and Risk Committee 
include the CEO, CFO and COO.

Duties
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
financial reporting process, including the appropriateness of 
the Company’s accounting policies and the effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Committee continues to spend a considerable amount of time 
reviewing significant risks and areas of judgement. In particular, 
the Committee conducts detailed reviews and analysis of the 
valuations prepared by the Executive Team of the FinTech Ventures 
investments, the Subsidiary Goodwill value in use models to assess 
if any impairment might be required and the Expected Credit 
Loss model. These valuations are key elements in the Group’s 
financial statements and the Audit and Risk Committee questions 
these carefully.

External Audit
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for overseeing 
the relationship with the external auditor, including the ongoing 
assessment of the auditor’s independence. The Committee makes 
recommendations to the Board with regard to the appointment of 
the external auditor and approves their terms of engagement and 
fees. The Committee discusses and agrees the nature and scope 
of the audit as set out in the audit engagement letter, reviews the 
results of the audit as described in the auditors’ management 
letter and the ongoing independence and objectivity of the external 
auditor. Following a tender process, Deloitte were appointed as the 
Company’s auditor in 2016, taking over from Grant Thornton. 

Processes are in place to safeguard the independence of the 
external auditor, including controls around the use of the external 
auditor for non-audit services. The external auditor also provides 
the Audit and Risk Committee with further assurance as to 
the procedures that it maintains to preserve objectivity and 
confirmation that it remains independent. All non-audit services 
are pre-approved by the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Effectiveness of External Auditor
The Committee assessed the effectiveness of the external auditor 
and the external audit process for 2020 through a number of steps, 
including: 

 > Agreement of their engagement letter and fees;
 > review of the external audit plan; 
 > meetings with the external auditors;
 > considering the extent of any non-audit services provided by the 

external auditors; 
 > considering the external auditors’ fulfilment of the agreed audit 

plan and variations from it;
 > considering the report from the auditor highlighting any major 

issues that arose during the course of the audit; and
 > conducting interviews to obtain feedback from the Executive 

Team and Administrator to evaluate the performance of the 
audit team.

For the audit for the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit 
Committee was satisfied that the audit was effective and that there 
were no factors which had any bearing on the independence or 
effectiveness of the external auditor. 

Financial reporting
The Audit and Risk Committee reviews, considers and, if thought 
appropriate, recommends to the Board the approval of the contents 
of the half yearly report and annual report and audited financial 
statements together with the external auditor’s report thereon. 
It focuses particularly on compliance with legal requirements, 
accounting standards and the relevant Listing Rules. The ultimate 
responsibility for reviewing and approving the half year report 
and annual report and audited financial statements remains with 
the Board.

The Audit and Risk Committee provides a formal forum through 
which the external auditor reports to the Board and the external 
auditor is invited to attend Audit and Risk Committee meetings at 
which annual and half yearly financial statements are considered. 
After discussions with the Executive Team and external auditor, 
the Audit and Risk Committee determined that the key risks of 
misstatement of the Group’s financial statements relate to the 
valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
the valuation and recoverability of goodwill, loan impairments 
and revenue. 

Freely tradeable market prices are not available for the majority of 
the Group’s financial assets, including the carrying value of goodwill 
arising on consolidation, which are therefore based on a discounted 
cash flow basis. Goodwill impairment reviews are carried out 
annually or sooner where an indicative event of impairment has 
been identified. With the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic in March 
2020, management decided to bring forward the impairment test 
date to 30 June so that in future periods the annual assessment 
will be performed during the preparation of its interim accounts 
and calibrated to this key event when assessing performance of 
the cash generating units. As a result, the Board carried out a full 
impairment review of the carrying amount of goodwill as reported 
in the interim accounts. 
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Given the ongoing situation in relation to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
serious consideration was given to carrying out an additional 
review of goodwill at this point in time, including but not restricted 
to considering forward looking cash flows and discount rates. 
Following an assessment of impairment indicators at 31 December 
2020, it was concluded that there were no further indicative events 
of impairment since June 2020. The Board are cognisant that 
the pandemic is ongoing as these financial statements are being 
written. However, they do not see this as a further event, more as 
a continuation of the event that arose in March 2020. The next 
annual review will coincide with the preparation of the 2021 interim 
accounts. Full details can be found in Note 2 (h), Note 3 and Note 
12 to the financial statements. 

For the valuations of the FinTech Ventures portfolio, the Executive 
Team provides a detailed valuation report on a quarterly basis. 
The Executive Team has confirmed to the Audit and Risk 
Committee that the valuation methodology has been applied 
consistently during the year. The accounting policies are described 
in detail in Note 2 (f) to the financial statements. 

The Audit and Risk Committee has assessed the processes 
around the expected credit loss provisions recorded in respect of 
the Group’s loan assets and reviewed the IFRS 9 model adopted 
at year-end which had also gone through the credit committee 
for approval. 

The accounting policies for revenue recognition are described in 
detail in Note 2 (o) to the financial statements. The Audit and Risk 
Committee has reviewed the revenue recognition policies of the 
Group and has determined that they are in accordance with the 
accounting standards and have been applied consistently. 

After due consideration, the Audit and Risk Committee 
recommends to the Board that the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to 
assess the Group and Company’s performance, business model 
and strategy.

Non-Audit and audit related fees paid to the External Auditors
During 2020, £9,300 was paid for non-audit services (tax compliance 
work) to Deloitte by Sancus BMS Group (31 December 2019: 
£7,000) and for audit related services being the half year review, 
£30,000 was paid by GLI to Deloitte (31 December 2019: 
£27,000). There is no perceived threat to auditor independence 
given the nature of the services provided and the safeguards in 
place. To note that following the new Crown Dependency Rules, 
Deloitte will not be able to carry out the tax compliance work after 
31 December 2020.

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
During 2020, management continued to enhance its reporting on 
risk management to the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee, 
which cover the operation of the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries. The Committee has received and considered these 
reports on three occasions, which has been the basis for its 
conclusion.

In addition to the review of risk management reports, and in 
accordance with the guidance published in the Guidance on Risk 
Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and Business 
Reporting by the Financial Reporting Council (the “FRC”), the Audit 
and Risk Committee has reviewed the Company’s internal control 
procedures and concluded that these are adequate to manage the 
current risk profile. 

During 2020, the Committee did not receive any reports relating to 
whistleblowing across the Group.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee

John Whittle
Chairman

Audit and Risk Committee

30 March 2021

The Audit and Risk Committee report continued
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Remuneration report

Introduction
An ordinary resolution for the approval of the annual remuneration 
report will be put to the shareholders at the annual general meeting 
to be held in 2021.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee comprises of 
John Whittle as Chairman, Patrick Firth and Nick Wakefield. The 
key duties include, but are not limited to, agreeing a framework 
for Director remuneration, ensuring management staff are 
appropriately incentivised to enhance performance, and reviewing 
the effectiveness of the remuneration policy on an on-going basis. 
No Director is involved in determining their own remuneration.

Remuneration Policy
On the 12 February 2020 the Remuneration Policy was approved and 
adopted. The Company is committed to the objective of maximising 
shareholder return in the longer term. The remuneration policy 
aims to be competitive, aligned with shareholder interests and 
relatively simple and transparent. The Board takes into consideration 
the views of significant shareholders when determining the 
remuneration of directors.

The objective is to put in place a remuneration package that, as 
a whole:

 > aligns the interests of employees with that of shareholders and the 
success of the Company;

 > is appropriately benchmarked, such that it aids retention and 
recruitment; and

 > meets applicable legal or regulatory requirements, is tax efficient 
and simple to implement and administer.

The Board is reviewing the Remuneration Policy against 
these objectives.

The Policy is divided into two parts; the first part in relation to the 
remuneration of the Non-Executive directors of the Company, and 
the second part in relation to the remuneration of the Executive 
Directors of the Company.

Part 1 – Remuneration Policy of Non-Executive Directors
Each Non-Executive Director receives a fixed fee per annum based 
on their role and responsibility within the Company and the time 
commitment required. It is not considered appropriate that Non-
Executive Directors’ remuneration should be performance related 
and none of the Non-Executive Directors are eligible for pension 
benefits, share options, long-term incentive schemes or other 
benefits in respect of their services as Non-Executive directors of the 
Company. Shares held by the Non-Executive Directors are disclosed 
in the Annual Report. 

Pursuant to Article 30.3 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation 
(the “Articles”) the Board may award additional remuneration to any 
Director engaged in exceptional work at the request of the Board on 
a time spent basis to compensate for the additional time spent over 
their expected time commitment. 

The total remuneration of the Non Executive Directors has not 
exceeded the £300,000 per annum limit (excluding amounts payable 
in respect of any out-of-pocket expenses pursuant to Article 30.2 
or any additional remuneration awarded pursuant to Article 30.3) 
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2016. 

The Articles provide that Non-Executive Directors retire and offer 
themselves for re election at the first annual general meeting after 
their appointment and at least every three years thereafter. A Non-
Executive Director’s appointment may at any time be terminated 
by and at the discretion of either party upon three months’ written 
notice. A Non-Executive Director’s appointment will terminate 
immediately without notice (or payment in lieu of notice) if such 
director is not re-appointed at a General Meeting of the Company 
(if required under the Articles), if such director is removed as a 
director at a General Meeting of the Company, or if such director 
resigns or ceases to be a director in accordance with the provisions 
of the Articles.

The terms and conditions of appointment of each Non-Executive 
Director are available for inspection at the Company’s registered 
office.

The last independent remuneration review was carried out in 
July 2014. The Directors will keep under review the timing for the 
next independent remuneration review. 
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For comparative purposes the table below sets out the Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration approved and actually paid for the year to 
31 December 2019 as well as proposed for the year ending 31 December 2020 (to be approved at the 2021 AGM). There has been no change 
to the base fee, other than the fees noted below were reduced by 10% in the third quarter of 2020 as part of the Covid-19 cost saving initiative. 

Director Role
Base proposed

 for 2020
Additional fees 

for 2020
Total fees 

for 2020
Base fee

 paid 2019
Additional fees 

for 2019
Total fees 

for 2019 

Patrick Firth Non-Executive Director 
and Chairman of the 
Board

£34,125 £14,625 for 
Chairman of 

the Board

£48,750 £35,000 £15,000 for 
Chairman of  

he Board

£50,000

John Whittle Non-Executive Director, 
Chairman of the Audit 
and Risk Committee 
and Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee

£34,125 £4,875 for 
Chairman of 
the ARC and 

£2,438 for 
Chairman of 

Rem Co

£41,438 £35,000 £5,000 for 
Chairman of 
the ARC and 

£2,500 for 
Chairman of 

Rem Co

£42,500

Nicholas Wakefield Non-Executive Director £34,125 Nil £34,125 £20,089* Nil £20,089
Total £102,375 £21,938 £124,313 £90,089 £22,500 £112,589

* Pro-rata fee for 2019 as Mr Wakefield was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 4 June 2019. Agreed base fee £35,000 p.a.

Part 2 – Remuneration Policy of Executive Directors
Base Remuneration
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Executive Directors’ base salary from the Company, excluding all reasonable expenses incurred in 
the course of their duties which were reimbursed by the Company, were as detailed in the table below:

31 December
 2020

31 December
 2019

Andrew Whelan £260,981 £254,616
Aaron Le Cornu1 £46,215 £159,135
Emma Stubbs £163,113 £159,135
Dan Walker £175,960 £154,500

1 Mr Le Cornu ceased employment on 16 April 2020.

In addition to fixed salary payments, in 2020 the Executive Team members received pension contributions of £19,478 (Andrew Whelan), 
£12,174 (Emma Stubbs), £6,932 (Aaron Le Cornu), £9,240 (Dan Walker). (2019: £38,192 (Andrew Whelan), £23,870 (Emma Stubbs), £23,870 
(Aaron Le Cornu), £15,450 (Dan Walker)).
Long Term Incentives
The introduction of a long term incentive plan will be considered as part of a review of the Remuneration Policy.
Discretionary Executive Bonus 
In the year to 31 December 2020 discretionary bonuses in cash of £125,000, £25,000 and £60,000 were paid to Andrew Whelan, 
Emma Stubbs and Dan Walker respectively (Year to 31 December 2019: £Nil).

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee

John Whittle
Remuneration Committee Chairman

30 March 2021

Remuneration report continued
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their Annual Report and Audited Consolidated 
financial statements (the “financial statements”) for the year ended 
31 December 2020. 

The Directors submit their Report together with the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders’ Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and 
the related Notes for the year ended 31 December 2020, which have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union, in accordance 
with any relevant enactment for the time being in force, and are in 
agreement with the accounting records, which comply with Section 
238 of The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. 

Principal activities
The Company was incorporated and domiciled in Guernsey, Channel 
Islands, as a company limited by shares and with limited liability 
on 9 June 2005 in accordance with The Companies (Guernsey) 
Law, 1994 (since superseded by The Companies (Guernsey) 
Law, 2008). Until 25 March 2015, the Company was Authorised 
as a Closed-ended Investment Scheme and was subject to the 
Authorised Closed-ended Investment Scheme Rules 2008 issued 
by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission (“GFSC”). On 
25 March 2015, the Company was registered with the GFSC as a 
Non-Regulated Financial Services Business, at which point the 
Company’s authorised fund status was revoked. The Company’s 
Ordinary Shares were admitted to the AIM market of the London 
Stock Exchange on 5 August 2005. The ZDPs were listed and traded 
on the main market of the London Stock Exchange with effect 
from 5 October 2015 and following shareholder approval now have 
a maturity date of 5 December 2022. The Company’s 2021 bonds 
were repaid on 21 December 2020 and a total of £12.575m principal 
of new bonds (the “New Bonds”) were issued on 22 December 2020. 
The New Bonds are not listed and have an interest rate of 7%.

The Company does not have a fixed life and the Articles do not 
contain any trigger events for a voluntary liquidation of the Company.

Following the approval by Shareholders at the Company AGM 
on 19 May 2016, the Company changed its status from being an 
investing company for the purpose of the AIM rules to a trading 
Company. 

The Executive Team is responsible for the day-to-day management 
of the Company. 

The Group
As at 31 December 2020, the Group comprises the Company and 
the entities disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.

Directors and Executive Team of the Company
A list of the Directors and the Executive Team who served the 
Company during the year and as at the date of this report is shown 
on pages 14 and 15.

Results and Dividends
The Group results for the year are set out on page 38. No Dividends 
were paid during the year (31 December 2019: Nil). 

Substantial Shareholdings
As at 31 December 2020, the Company was aware of the following 
substantial shareholders who held more than 3 percent of issued 
share capital of the Company:

Number 
of Ordinary 

Shares held

Percentage of
 total ordinary 
shares issued

 held

Somerston Group 200,349,684 40.90%
Philip J Milton & Company plc 40,685,241 8.31%
Winterflood Platform Services 26,174,326 5.34%
Investec Wealth and Investment 16,590,873 3.39%
DBH Global Holdings 15,603,285 3.19% 
Chelverton Asset Management 14,800,000 3.02%
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Following the cancellation of the LTIPS on 26 November 2019, 
there were no unexercised share options for Ordinary Shares of 
the Company (31 December 2019: Nil). 

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU), and The Companies 
(Guernsey) Law, 2008 for each financial period to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the 
financial year and of the profit or loss for that period. International 
Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present 
fairly for each financial period the Company’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows. This requires faithful 
representation of the effects of transactions, other events and 
conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria 
for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the International 
Accounting Standards Board’s “Framework for the preparation and 
presentation of financial statements”. In virtually all circumstances 
a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

 > Ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Memorandum and Articles of Incorporation and IFRSs, as adopted 
by the European Union;

 > Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
 > Present information including accounting policies, in a manner 

that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable 
information;

 > Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and

 > Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and the 
Group will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors also confirm that the annual report and financial 
statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess 
the Group and Company’s performance, business model and 
strategy.

Internal Controls Review
Taking into account the ongoing work of the Audit and Risk 
Committee in monitoring the risk management and internal control 
systems on behalf of the Board the Directors have conducted a 
robust assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties faced 
by the Group as set out on page 12 and is satisfied that each of 
these has been properly identified and is being effectively managed 
through the operation of appropriate internal controls and risk 
management systems, within the constraints of the resources of 
the Group. 

Statement as to Disclosure of Information to Auditor
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ 
Report confirm that:

 > There is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditors are unaware; and

 > The Directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to 
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Auditor
Deloitte LLP have indicated their willingness to continue in office 
and a resolution to re-appoint Deloitte LLP will be tabled at the 
forthcoming AGM.

Directors’ report continued

Directors’ interests
As at 31 December 2020, the Directors had the following beneficial interests in the Ordinary Shares of the Company:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

No. of Ordinary
 Shares Held

% of Ordinary
 Shares

No. of Ordinary 
Shares Held

% of Ordinary
 Shares

Patrick Firth (Chairman) 367,966 0.08 278,669 0.09
John Whittle 138,052 0.03 104,550 0.03
Nick Wakefield – – – –
Andrew Whelan 9,553,734 1.95 9,553,734 3.06
Emma Stubbs 1,380,940 0.28 1,380,940 0.44
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Going Concern
The Board has assessed the Group’s financial position as at 
31 December 2020 and the factors that may impact its performance 
for at least the 12 months following approval of the financial 
statements. This included cashflow stress testing for a prolonged 
period of reduced trading/revenue and delays to loan repayments 
as a result of Covid-19. The Board has also considered the unfunded 
commitments as described in Note 26 where the expectation is 
the majority of these commitments will be filled by Co-Funders, 
consistent with historical levels of participation. After considering 
the maturity profile of the debt structure of the Group and projected 
cash flows which has improved significantly following the successful 
equity raise and debt restructuring at the end of 2020, with the 
operational cash balance at 31 December 2020 of £11.3m, the 
Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare these 
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Board succession
The Board wishes to announce that following the successful fund 
raise last year and the refinancing of the Company’s debt liabilities 
(with the support of the Somerston Group), Patrick Firth, who has 
been Chairman of the Board for the past 10 years, will be considering 
his position during 2021 and is intending to resign from the Board. 

Patrick will leave the Company in a strong position and a 
replacement Chairman will be identified and announced in 
due course.

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 
30 March 2021.
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Independent auditor’s report to the  
members of GLI Finance Limited 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Opinion 
In our opinion the financial statements of GLI Finance Limited 
(the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’): 

 > give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 
31 December 2020 and of its loss for the year then ended;

 > have been properly prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union; and

 > have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

 > the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income;
 > the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position;
 > the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity;
 > the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows; and
 > the related Notes 1 to 27.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by  
the European Union.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report. 

We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s 
(the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient  
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

 > Impairment of goodwill; 
 > Impairment and recoverability of loans

Materiality The materiality that we used for the group financial statements in the current year was £655k (2019: £800k) 
which was determined on the basis of approximately 2% of the group’s net asset value (“NAV”).

Scoping We performed a full scope audit for all components of the Group.

Significant changes  
in our approach

We have downgraded the going concern risk given the successful completion of the restructuring of the 
group’s debt obligations. In addition, we have downgraded the risk associated with the valuation of FinTech 
Ventures’ investments given these have been fully impaired in the current financial year.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

 > Evaluating the cash flow forecasts for reasonableness by comparing them to the contractual terms and other supporting documents 
relating to the restructuring terms of the group’s financial obligations;

 > Performing sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions within the cash flow forecast;
 > Challenging key assumptions made by management in reaching their conclusion that the group will have sufficient headroom at the end 

of and during the forecast period by performing stress scenario analysis on future generated cash flows; and
 > Evaluating the appropriateness of the financial statement disclosures for going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or 
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when 
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of 
the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. 
These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of goodwill 

Key audit matter 
description

As at 31 December 2020, the group has recorded goodwill of £22.9m (2019: £22.9m) representing 22% 
(2019: 20%) of group total assets at year end. Discounted cash flow models are prepared by management to 
assist the Board and Audit Committee in determining whether indicators of impairment exist and estimating 
the recoverable amount of goodwill, based on information available at 31 December 2020. Covid-19 has 
significantly impacted loan originations in the current year and management have assumed a recovery to  
pre-Covid-19 levels of activity in their cash flow forecasts.

With the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020 management decided to bring forward the impairment 
test date to 30 June and were required to make a number of significant assumptions and judgements including 
determination of appropriate discount rates, cash flow forecasts and growth rates. Uncertainties associated 
with the assumed recovery modelled in the cash flows may be inappropriate, either as a result of errors or 
deliberate manipulation of inputs, which could result in a material misstatement of the goodwill balance in the 
financial statements, and hence it is considered a fraud key audit matter. Management has concluded that 
there have been no further impairment triggers between 30 June 2020 and 31 December 2020.

The risk is explained further in the Strategic report where this is included as a key risk of misstatement. Note 
2(h) and Note 3 set out the associated accounting policy and disclosure in respect of critical judgements and 
key sources of estimation uncertainty, with Note 12 setting out details of the impairment tests and goodwill 
valuation sensitivities.

How the scope of our 
audit responded  
to the key audit 
matter

We updated our understanding of how the discounted cash flow forecasts are prepared and the Board’s 
process to identify and recognise impairment. In conjunction with our valuation specialists we performed the 
following procedures in respect of the discounted cash flow models. We have:

 > obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over the impairment assessment process;
 > reviewed and challenged the key assumptions to the cash flows including revenue growth rates, discount 

rates, the potential impacts of Covid-19 and Brexit on future income and expenditure cash flows, considering 
whether there were any inconsistencies with our understanding of the group’s business model;

 > performed additional stress testing on the key assumptions to determine the impact on the recoverable 
amount of goodwill and whether this would lead to impairment;

 > challenged the cash flow and growth rate assumptions, which forecast a recovery to pre-Covid-19 levels 
of loan origination, by assessing trends in external sector reports, evaluating the expected cash flows from 
the loan pipeline and loans originated post impairment test date, and applying additional stress tests for a 
prolonged period of recovery to pre-Covid-19 levels of activity; 

 > agreed inputs to supporting evidence where appropriate;
 > performed back testing of the most recent forecasts against actual performance for the underlying 

businesses to assess the accuracy of management’s forecasting process;
 > reviewed the models prepared by management for consistency with the requirements of IAS 36; 
 > challenged management’s assertion that no further impairment triggers exist at the balance sheet date, 

considering the sources of information to identify such indicators as listed in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets; and
 > reviewed the disclosures made in the light of the requirements of IAS 36.

Key 
observations

Based on our audit work, we concur with management that the goodwill balance was not impaired as at 
31 December 2020. As described in Note 3 to the financial statements, we note that management have 
assumed a recovery to pre-Covid-19 levels of loan issuance in 2021 in their forecasts and should this not occur, 
this could lead to future impairment. Note 12 to the financial statements describes the underlying sensitivity of 
the key inputs used.

Independent auditor’s report to the  
members of GLI Finance Limited continued
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Impairment and recoverability of loans 
Key audit  
matter description

Sancus BMS is an alternative financing business operating in the UK, Ireland and four offshore locations, 
providing a range of borrowing solutions and funder-participation options. As at 31 December 2020 the 
aggregate value of Sancus BMS loans amounted to £53.2m (2019: £64.3m) representing 52% of total assets 
(2019: 56%).

The loan portfolio comprises property backed (Sancus) and Small and Medium sized Enterprises (“SME”) loans 
(via BMS Finance (UK) Sarl). Through Sancus, the group has direct exposure to loans through co-investment 
alongside third-party lenders. The group has also provided a first loss guarantee as part of the Sancus Loan 
Note structures and has direct investment into loan SPVs including BMS Finance (UK) Sarl. The value of these 
assets is also supported by the underlying loan book.

Management is required to assess loans for impairment, including the application of the expected credit 
loss (‘ECL’) model under IFRS 9. In making this assessment, management makes a number of significant 
judgements. These include determining appropriate assumptions for calculating the loss allowance under IFRS 
9 (including probability of default and loss given default), as well as considering the impact of loan-specific 
matters including cash flow forecasts and covenant compliance. As a result, errors or deliberate manipulation 
of these determining factors could result in material misstatement of the financial statements, as such it is 
considered as a fraud key audit matter.

The risk is explained further in the strategic report where this is included as a key risk of misstatement. Note 
2(f) and Note 3 set out the associated accounting policy and disclosure in respect of critical judgements and 
key sources of estimation uncertainty, with Note 23 setting out details of the associated risk factors, including 
credit risk.

How the scope  
of our audit 
responded to the  
key audit matter

We have:

 > obtained an understanding of relevant controls over the loans impairment process;
 > tested, on a sample basis, inputs used in the ‘Loans Monitoring Report’, including the accuracy of covenant 

calculations, loan to value ratios, valuation of the underlying collateral and other financial and non-financial 
information;

 > challenged the judgments (including qualitative and quantitative criteria) taken by management related to 
the categorisation of loans into the various credit stages required under IFRS 9. We considered this in the 
context of management’s definition of a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) and the definition of default 
and performed a review of the Loan Monitoring Report to assess evidence of changes in credit risk resulting 
from factors such as:

 – movements in loan to value ratios (i.e. deterioration in asset security);
 – covenant breaches;
 – delinquency in contractual payments; or
 – other signs of financial stress.

 > challenged the assumptions made by management in respect of the recoverable value of any 
non-performing loans in light of available evidence and the underlying collateral;

 > challenged the assumptions made by management on macroeconomic factors, such as Covid-19, including 
any overlays required to compensate for the change in the market environment not reflected in the ECL model; 

 > evaluated the reasonableness of estimates applied to determine the probability of default (PD), loss given 
default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD) for each stage within which loans are classified and their 
compliance with IFRS 9 requirements;

 > tested the clerical accuracy of the ECL calculation based on the above inputs; and
 > evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made in the financial statements in light of the requirements of IFRS 

7 and IFRS 9.

Key 
observations

We have concluded that the overall carrying value of loans is reasonable. As described in note 3 to the financial 
statements, IFRS 9 requires the application of a probability weighted unbiased estimate in determining the ECL 
on loans; there are therefore certain loans where the amounts recovered could be materially different to the 
estimate at 31 December 2020. Note 23 to the financial statements describes the underlying sensitivity of the 
key inputs used.
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Independent auditor’s report to the  
members of GLI Finance Limited continued

Our application of materiality
1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the 
financial statements that makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed 
or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our 
audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for 
the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group Materiality £655k (2019: £800k)

Basis for determining  
materiality

Approximately 2% of the group’s net 
asset value.

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

This benchmark is considered the most 
appropriate given the significance of the 
on–balance sheet lending and goodwill 
balances.

We have also adopted a lower level of materiality for revenue 
balances consistent with the prior year audit. We consider revenue 
to be a critical performance measure for the group as it is expected 
to be a key driver for future distributions from profits now the 
group has further developed its SME and property backed lending 
business.

The lower level materiality applied was £177k (2019: £217k), being 
approximately 1.7% (2019: 1.6%) of total revenue. We agreed with the 
Audit Committee that this was appropriate as revenue balances are 
relatively low compared to our overall group materiality set out above, 
yet there is increasing focus on these as performance measures.

NAV £29,494k
Group materiality
£655k

Audit Committee 
reporting threshold
£33k

■ NAV ■ Group materiality

2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to 
reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements 
as a whole. Group performance materiality was set at 60% of 
group materiality for the 2020 audit (2019: 70%). In determining 
performance materiality, we considered the following factors:

 > Our risk assessment, including our assessment of the group’s 
overall control environment and that we consider it appropriate 
to rely on controls on a key business process; 

 > Our past experience of the audit, which has indicated a low 
number of uncorrected misstatements identified in prior periods; 
and

 > The potential impact of Covid-19 on the application of control 
procedures which might increase the possibility of having 
undetected misstatements. 

3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the 
Committee all audit differences in excess of £33k (2019: £40k), as 
well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted 
reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit 
Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the group 
and its environment, including internal control, and assessing the 
risks of material misstatement for the company and its subsidiaries. 
Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement was 
performed directly by the group audit team for both the parent entity 
and its subsidiaries. All subsidiaries in the group were subject to full 
scope audits.

Audit work performed for the subsidiaries was executed by the group 
audit team at levels of materiality applicable to each subsidiary, 
which in all instances was lower than group materiality and ranged 
between £9.7k and £557k (2019: between £3.9k and £793k).

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other 
information contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise 
to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, 
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible 
for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit  
of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms  
part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable  
of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements 
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is 
detailed below.

Identifying and assessing potential risks related  
to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in 
respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with 
laws and regulations, we considered the following:

 > the nature of the industry and sector, control environment 
and business performance including the design of the group’s 
remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, 
bonus levels and performance targets;

 > results of our enquiries of management and the audit committee 
about their own identification and assessment of the risks of 
irregularities; 

 > any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the 
group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:

 – identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and 
regulations and whether they were aware of any instances 
of non-compliance;

 – detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they 
have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

 – the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or 
non-compliance with laws and regulations;

 > the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and 
relevant internal specialists, including tax, valuations, IT, and 
industry specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in 
the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities 
and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and 
identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: 
manipulation of the company’s key performance indicators to meet 
external stakeholders’ forecasts, in particular revenue and areas 
that include management estimates i.e. goodwill impairment and 
impairment of loans. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we 
are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the 
risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory 
frameworks that the group operates in, focusing on provisions 
of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the 
determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this 
context included the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, the Listing 
Rules and relevant tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations 
that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but 
compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability 
to operate or to avoid a material penalty.

Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified goodwill 
impairment and impairment of loans as key audit matters related to 
the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report 
explains the matters in more detail and also describes the specific 
procedures we performed in response to those key audit matters. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified 
included the following:

 > reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to 
supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions 
of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect 
on the financial statements;

 > enquiring of management and the audit committee concerning 
actual and potential litigation and claims;

 > performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or 
unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud;

 > reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance 
and reviewing correspondence with the regulators;
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Independent auditor’s report to the  
members of GLI Finance Limited continued

 > in addressing the risk of fraud through revenue recognition, 
assessing management’s judgements in respect of the 
contractual cash flows (including arrangement and other fees) 
so as to assess whether they are in accordance with the effective 
interest rate method; assessing the specific judgements and 
recognition criteria applied in respect of other fees received; 
agreeing a sample of cash receipts to related contractual terms 
for other fees, to test the accuracy of the amount recorded in the 
ledger; applying analytical procedures to recalculate the income 
for some components to test the accuracy and completeness of 
the recorded income; reviewing management’s internal policy over 
exit fees for compliance with relevant accounting standards; and 
challenging the criteria used to account for exit fees; and

 > in addressing the risk of fraud through management override 
of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and 
other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in 
making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and 
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions 
that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and 
potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including 
internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or 
non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

 > we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit; or

 > proper accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
company; or 

 > the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 
records.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, 
in accordance with Section 262 of the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 
2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

David Becker (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Recognised Auditor

St Peter Port, Guernsey

30 March 2021



37GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

Consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes
2020

£’000
2019 

£’000

Revenue 5 10,861 13,140

Cost of sales 6 (6,118) (5,126)

Gross profit 4,743 8,014

Operating expenses 7 (5,582) (6,953)

Operating (loss)/profit before credit losses (839) 1,061

Changes in expected credit losses 23 (4,665) (1,524)
Incurred losses on financial assets – (116)

Operating Loss (5,504) (579)

FinTech Ventures fair value movement 23 (5,996) (7,493)
Other net losses 8 (3,032) (1,616)

Loss for the year before tax (14,532) (9,688)

Income tax credit/(expense) 18 15 (232)

Loss for the year after tax (14,517) (9,920)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain arising on consolidation (23) 21
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year after tax (23) 21

Total comprehensive loss for the year (14,540) (9,899)

Loss for the year after tax attributable to equity holders of the company (14,517) (9,920)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity holders of the company (14,540) (9,899)

Basic Loss per Ordinary Share 10 (4.60)p (3.26)p
Diluted Loss per Ordinary Share 10 (4.19)p (3.26)p

The accompanying Notes on pages 41 to 76 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement  
of financial position
As at 31 December 2020

Notes

31 December
2020

£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Fixed assets 11 774 1,018
Goodwill 12 22,894 22,894
Other intangible assets 13 168 334
Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents 23 3,863 8,950
FinTech Ventures investments 23 – 6,299
Investments in joint ventures and associates 9 866 2,703
Total non-current assets 28,565 42,198

Current assets
Other assets 14 1,015 3,336
Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents 23 49,369 55,313
Trade and other receivables 15 8,204 5,909
Cash and cash equivalents 15,786 7,244
Total current assets 74,374 71,802

Total assets 102,939 114,000

EQUITY
Share premium 16 116,218 112,557
Treasury shares 16 (1,099) (1,099)
Other reserves (85,625) (71,085)
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Group 29,494 40,373

Total equity 29,494 40,373

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 69,450 54,191
Other liabilities 469 679
Total non-current liabilities 17 69,919 54,870

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1,638 1,495
Tax liabilities 118 221
Borrowings – 16,825
Provisions 1,542 –
Other liabilities 228 216
Total current liabilities 17 3,526 18,757

Total liabilities 73,445 73,627

Total equity and liabilities 102,939 114,000

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Director: Patrick Firth Director: John Whittle

The accompanying Notes on pages 41 to 76 form an integral part of these financial statements. 



39GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

Consolidated statement of  
changes in shareholders’ equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes

Share 
Premium

£’000

Treasury 
Shares

£’000

Warrants 
Outstanding 

£’000

Foreign
Exchange

Reserve 
£’000

Retained
Earnings/

(Losses) 
£’000

Capital and
reserves

attributable 
to equity 

holders 
of the 

Company
£’000

Balance at 1 January 2020 112,557 (1,099) – 22 (71,107) 40,373
Warrants issued during the year 16 – – 847 – (847) –
Equity raised (net of costs) 16 3,661 – – – – 3,661
Transactions with owners 3,661 – 847 – (847) 3,661
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (23) (14,517) (14,540)
Balance at 31 December 2020 116,218 (1,099) 847 (1) (86,471) 29,494

Balance at 31 December 2018 112,557 (1,162) – 1 (61,169) 50,227
Adjustments in respect of IFRS 16 – – – – (18) (18)
Restated at 1 January 2019 112,557 (1,162) – 1 (61,187) 50,209
Transferred to/from management 16 – 63 – – – 63
Transactions with owners – 63 – – – 63
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – 21 (9,920) (9,899)
Balance at 31 December 2019 112,557 (1,099) – 22 (71,107) 40,373
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes
2020 

£’000
2019 

£’000

Cash flow from operations, excluding loan movements 19 (3,837) 5351

Decrease in Sancus BMS loans 5,060 946
Decrease in loans through platforms 18 846
Decrease/(Increase) in Sancus Loans Limited loans 472 (20,380)
Decrease in loans to UK SARL 3,581 1,795
Divestment of Sancus Loan Notes – 3,311
Net Cash flows used in operating activities 5,294 (12,947)

Investing activities
Net investments in FinTech Ventures 277 89
Divestment in Sancus (IOM) preference shares – 950
Divestment in Irish SARL – 83
Investment in joint venture (100) –
Cash outflow on disposal of BMS Finance AB Limited (215) –
Expenditure on SPL Properties (229) (720)
Sale of SPL Properties 1,597 929
Property, equipment and other intangibles acquired (29) (181)
Net cash inflow from investing activities 1,301 1,150

Financing activities
Drawdown of HIT facility 19 4,187 23,395
Repayment of HIT facility 19 (3,500) (2,000)
Purchase of own shares 16 – (336)
Capital element of lease payments 19 (216) (190)
Proceeds from equity issued 3,681 –
Repayment of bonds 19 (6,125) –
Issue of bonds 19 8,700 –
Debt issue costs (314) (80)
Repayment of ZDPs 19 (4,443) (7,632)
Net cash generated by financing activities 1,970 13,157

Effects of exchange (23) 21

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8,542 1,381
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,244 5,863

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15,786 7,244
1 Cash flow from operations excludes the effects of exchange which are now presented as a separate line on the cash flow statement.

The accompanying Notes on pages 41 to 76 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
GLI Finance Limited (the “Company”), and together with its subsidiaries, (“the Group”) was incorporated, and domiciled in Guernsey, Channel 
Islands, as a company limited by shares and with limited liability, on 9 June 2005 in accordance with The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 
1994 (since superseded by The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008). Until 25 March 2015, the Company was an Authorised Closed-ended 
Investment Scheme and was subject to the Authorised Closed-ended Investment Scheme Rules 2008 issued by the Guernsey Financial 
Services Commission (“GFSC”). On 25 March 2015, the Company was registered with the GFSC as a Non-Regulated Financial Services 
Business, at which point the Company’s authorised fund status was revoked. The Company’s Ordinary Shares were admitted to trading on 
the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange on 5 August 2005 and its issued ZDPs were listed and traded on the Standard listing Segment 
of the main market of the London Stock Exchange with effect from 5 October 2015.

The Company does not have a fixed life and the Articles do not contain any trigger events for a voluntary liquidation of the Company. The 
Company is an operating company for the purpose of the AIM rules. The Executive Team is responsible for the management of the Company. 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group comprises the Company and its subsidiaries (please refer to Note 20 for full details of the Company’s 
subsidiaries).

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption conferred by the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, Section 244, not to prepare 
company only financial statements.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as 
adopted by the European Union (“EU”), and all applicable requirements of Guernsey Company Law. The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified for the measurement of investment at fair value through profit or loss. With 
the exception of any new and amended accounting standards which require policy changes, detailed in note 2(v), the principal accounting 
policies of the Group have remained unchanged from the previous year and are set out below. Comparative information in the primary 
statements is given for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group does not operate in an industry where significant or cyclical variations, as a result of seasonal activity, are experienced during any 
particular financial period.

Going Concern
The Board has assessed the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and the factors that may impact its performance for at 
least the 12 months following approval of the financial statements. This included cash flow stress testing for a prolonged period of reduced 
trading/revenue and delays to loan repayments as a result of Covid-19. The Board has also considered the unfunded commitments as 
described in Note 26 where the expectation is the majority of these commitments will be filled by Co-Funders, consistent with historical 
levels of participation. After considering the maturity profile of the debt structure of the Group and projected cash flows which has improved 
significantly following the successful equity raise and debt restructuring at the end of 2020, with the operational cash balance at 31 December 
2020 of £11.3m, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare these financial statements on a going concern basis.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The financial statements comprise the results of GLI Finance Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2020. The 
subsidiaries are all entities where the Company has the power to control the investee, is exposed, or has rights to variable returns and 
has the ability to use its power to affect these returns. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Company. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the year is recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
applicable. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and other short term highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(d) Dividends
Dividend distributions are made at the discretion of the Company. A dividend distribution to shareholders is accounted for as a reduction in 
retained earnings. A proposed dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in which it has been approved and declared by the Directors.

(e) Expenditure
All expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis. Management fees, administration fees, finance costs and all other expenses (excluding 
share issue expenses which are offset against share premium) are charged through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(f) Financial assets and liabilities 
Classification, recognition and initial measurement
Classification and measurement of debt assets is driven by the business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of those financial assets. There are three principal classification categories for financial assets that are debt instruments: 
(i) amortised cost, (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income and (iii) fair value through profit and loss. Equity investments in the 
scope of IFRS 9 are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in profit and loss unless an irrevocable election is made to 
recognise gains or losses in other comprehensive income.

Given we are a lending business, which participates in financing to borrowers, Sancus BMS loans, HIT loans, BMS fund investments, loan 
equivalents and loans through platforms are held solely for the collection of contractual cash flows, being interest, fees and payment of 
principal. These assets are held at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, adjusted for any credit loss allowance. 

FinTech Ventures investments relate to equity, preference shares and some working capital loans. Whilst some of these investments attract 
interest, the assets are held primarily to assist the development of the entities involved. These investments are held at fair value with charges 
recognised in profit and loss.

Trade payables, financial liabilities and trade receivables are held solely for the collection and payment of contractual cash flows, being 
payments of principal and interest where applicable. Trade receivables are held at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 
adjusted for any credit loss allowance. Trade payables and financial liabilities are held at amortised cost with any interest cost calculated in 
accordance with the effective interest rate. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, with transaction costs 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial assets and financial liabilities not at fair value through profit 
or loss are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are either measured at fair value or amortised cost as noted above. Realised gains and 
losses arising on the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the period in which they arise. The effect of discounting 
on trade and other receivables is not considered to be material.

Fair value measurement
“Fair value” is the price that would be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that 
date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is 
regarded as “active” if transactions of the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on 
an on-going basis. The Group measures financial instruments quoted in an active market at a mid price.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take 
into account in pricing a transaction. Please refer to Note 23.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period during which the change has 
occurred. 

If in the case of any investment the Directors at any time consider that the above basis of valuation is inappropriate or that the value 
determined in accordance with the foregoing principles is unfair, they are entitled to substitute what in their opinion, is a fair value. 

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are included in 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise. 

Debt and Equity Instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received less any direct costs of issue. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Derecognition
Sales of all financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on which the Group disposes of the economic benefits of the asset. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Group has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the 
portion of the asset derecognised) and the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts in order to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate movements. Further 
details can be found in Note 23.

Forward contracts are initially recognised at fair value at the date the contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair 
value at each balance sheet date. Resulting gains/losses are recognised in profit or loss immediately. Forward contracts with positive fair 
value are recognised as financial assets whereas forward contracts with negative fair value are recognised as financial liabilities. Contracts 
are presented as non-current assets or liabilities if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and is not expected to be 
settled within 12 months. Other contracts are presented as current assets.

Expected credit losses
Credit risk is assessed at initial recognition of each financial asset and subsequently re-assessed at each reporting period-end. For each 
category of Credit risk loans have been categorized into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 with Stage 1 being to recognise 12 month Expected 
Credit Losses (ECL), Stage 2 being to recognise Lifetime ECL not credit impaired and Stage 3 being to recognise Lifetime ECL credit impaired. 
When for example LTV exceeds 65% or amounts become 30 days past due judgement will be used to reassess whether Credit risk has 
increased significantly enough to move the loan from one stage to another. A loan is considered to be in default when there is a failure to 
meet the legal obligation of the loan agreement. This would include provisions against loans that are considered by management as unlikely 
to pay their obligations in full without realisation of collateral. 

Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents are assessed for credit risk based on information available at initial recognition, predominantly (but 
not solely) using Loan to Value (LTV). With respect to the loan to the UK SARL there is no direct exposure to individual loans. As a result this 
loan has been assessed for credit risk based upon the Net Asset Value (NAV) of the SARL, and its ability to repay the loan. For trade and other 
receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach to recognise lifetime expected credit losses although loan interest receivable is 
included in the gross carrying value when determining ECL.

Provision for ECL is calculated using the credit risk, the probability of default and the probability of loss given default, all underpinned by the 
LTV, historical position, forward looking considerations and on occasion subsequent events, and the subjective judgement of the Board. ECL 
assumes the life of the loan is consistent with contractual term.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are only recognised as a financial liability when it becomes probable that the guarantee will be called upon in 
the future. The liability is measured at fair value and subsequently in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9. The fair 
value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the difference in cash flows between contracted payments required 
under the debt instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to 
a third party for assuming the obligations.

(g) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements of the Group are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates 
(its functional currency). The Directors have considered the primary economic currency of the Company and considered the currency in 
which finance is raised, distributions made, and ultimately what currency would be returned if the Company was wound up. The Directors 
have also considered the currency to which the underlying investments are exposed. On balance, the Directors believe Sterling best 
represents the functional currency of the Company. Therefore, the books and records are maintained in Sterling and for the purpose of the 
financial statements, the results and financial position of the Group are presented in Sterling, which is also the presentation currency of 
the Group.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the date of the transaction (not retranslated). 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

All subsidiaries are presented in Sterling, which is the primary currency in which they operate with the exception of Sancus BMS (Ireland) 
Limited whose primary currency is the Euro. Translation differences on non-monetary items are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss 
reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Foreign exchange differences arising on consolidation of the Group’s foreign operations are taken direct to reserves. The rates of exchange 
as at the year-end are £1: USD1.3664 (31 December 2019 USD1.3259) and £1: EUR1.1202 (31 December 2019 EUR1.1815)

(h) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually identified and separately 
recognised. Goodwill is measured as the excess of (a) the aggregate of: (i) the consideration transferred measured in accordance with IFRS 
3, which generally requires acquisition-date fair value; (ii) the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree measured in accordance 
with IFRS 3; and (iii) in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree; over (b) the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed 
measured in accordance with IFRS 3. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer to Note 2 (k) for a description 
of impairment testing procedures.

(i) Interest costs
Interest costs are recognised when economic benefits are due to debt holders. Interest costs are accrued on a time basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability to the liability’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

(j) Other intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives 
and amortisation methods are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, or more frequently when there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired, with the effect of any changes accounted for on a prospective basis. Amortisation commences when the 
intangible asset is available for use. The residual value of intangible assets is assumed to be zero.

Computer software
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are 
directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Company are recognised as 
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

 > it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available of use;
 > management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
 > there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
 > it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
 > adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product are available; and 
 > the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured. 

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development employee costs and 
third party contractor costs. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised development 
costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use over their estimated useful lives, 
which does not exceed four years. 

(k) Impairment testing of goodwill, intangible assets and property and equipment
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. To determine the value-in-use, management estimates 
expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as 
necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each 
cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk factors.
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Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that cash-generating unit. Any 
remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are 
subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed 
if the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

All impairments or subsequent reversals of impairments are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(l) Investment in Joint Venture and associates
A joint venture is a joint arrangement over which the Group has joint control. An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant 
influence but is not a subsidiary.

An investment in a joint venture or associate is accounted for by the Group using the equity method except for certain FinTech Ventures 
associates as described in Note 3. These are measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with policy Note 2 (f).

Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share in the joint venture or associate is not recognised separately and is 
included in the amount recognised as an investment.

The carrying amount of the investment in a joint venture or associate is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture or associate and adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its joint venture or associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the entity. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment.

(m) Non-Current Liabilities
Loans payable are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans payable 
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The ZDPs are contractually required to be redeemed on their maturity date and they will be settled in cash, thus, ZDP shares are classified 
as liabilities (refer to Note 17) in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. After initial recognition, these liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost, which represents the initial proceeds of the issuance plus the accrued entitlement to the reporting date. Any 
ZDPs acquired by the group, as noted in Note 17, are held in Treasury and shown as a reduction in carrying value. 

(n) Property and equipment
Tangible fixed assets include computer equipment, furniture and fittings stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is 
provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of tangible property and computer equipment on a straight-line basis over its expected 
useful economic life as follows:

Furniture and fittings 3 to 5 years

Computer equipment 2 to 4 years

(o) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for services provided 
in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes where applicable in the Group. Revenue is reduced for 
estimated rebates and other similar allowances. The Group has five principal sources of revenue and related accounting policies are outlined 
below:

Interest on loans
Interest income is recognised in accordance with IFRS 9. Interest income is accrued over the contractual life of the loan, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established (provided that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Fee income on syndicated and non-syndicated loans
In accordance with the guidance in IFRS 15 Revenue, the Group distinguishes between fees that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate of a financial instrument, fees that are earned as services are provided, and fees that are earned on the execution of a significant act. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
Commitment and arrangement fees
Commitment and arrangement fees earned for syndicated loans are recognised on origination of the loan as compensation for the service of 
syndication. This is a reflection of the commercial reality of the operations of the business to arrange and administer loans for other parties 
i.e. the execution of a significant act and satisfying the Group’s performance obligation at the point of arranging the loan.

Consistent with the policy outlined above, commitment and arrangement fees earned on loans originated for the sole benefit of the Group 
are also recorded in revenue on completion of the service of analysing or originating the loan. Whilst this is not in accordance with the 
requirements of the effective interest rate method outlined in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, this is not considered to have a material impact 
on the financial performance or financial position of the Group.

Exit fees
Where a loan is syndicated and has standard terms the exit fee is recognised as part of the arrangement fee, reflecting the costs of 
syndication at the start of the loan. Where a loan is syndicated and has milestones or conditions which determine if the fee becomes payable 
and/or the magnitude of the fee the exit fee is treated as variable consideration in line with IFRS 15 and is only recognised when the relevant 
milestones/conditions are met. Where loans are not syndicated the exit fee is deemed to be part of the effective interest rate and recognised 
over the term of the loan. 

Fee income earned by peer-to-peer subsidiary platforms
Fee income earned by subsidiaries whose principal business is to operate online lending platforms that arrange financing between 
Co-Funders and borrowers includes arrangement fees, trading transaction fees, repayment fees and other lender related fees. Revenue 
earned from the arrangement of financing is classified as a transaction fee and is recognised immediately upon acceptance of the 
arrangement by Borrowers. Other transaction fees, including revenue from Co-Funders in relation to the sale of their loan participations 
in platform secondary markets is also recognised immediately. 

Loan repayment fees are charged on a straight-line basis over the repayments of the borrower’s financing arrangement.

Advisory fees
Advisory fee income is invoiced and recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the relevant investment advisory agreement.

(p) Share based payments
As explained in the Remuneration Report, the Company provides a discretionary bonus, part of which is satisfied through the issuance of the 
Company’s own shares, to certain senior management. The cost of such bonuses is taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income with a corresponding credit to Shareholders’ Equity. The fair value of any share options granted is determined at the grant date and 
the expense is spread over the vesting period in accordance with IFRS 2.

(q) Taxation
Current tax, including corporation tax in relevant jurisdictions that the Group operates in, is provided at amounts expected to be paid 
(or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where 
transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at 
the balance sheet date. Timing differences are differences between the Group’s taxable profits, and its results as stated in the financial 
statements, that arise from the inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised 
in the financial statements.

(r) Treasury shares
Where the Company purchases its own Share Capital, the consideration paid, which includes any directly attributable costs, is recognised as 
a deduction from Share Premium.

When such shares are subsequently sold or reissued to the market, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs, is recognised as an increase in Share Premium. Where the Company cancels treasury shares, no further action is required 
to the Share Premium account at the time of cancellation. 

(s) Warrants
Warrants are accounted for as either equity or liabilities based upon the characteristics and provisions of each instrument and are recorded 
at fair value as of the date of issuance. In subsequent periods an amount representing the difference between the warrant exercise price and 
the prevailing market price of the company’s shares is transferred from/to retained earnings to/from warrants outstanding.
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(t) Inventories – Development properties
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises initial outlay and, where applicable, additional costs that 
have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing and selling. Repossessed assets are accounted for under 
IAS 2: Inventories because the Group will either immediately seek to dispose of those assets which are readily marketable or pursue the 
original development plans to sell for those that are not readily marketable. Such assets are classed as “Other Assets” within current assets 
on the balance sheet.

(u) Leases
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an 
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by 
using the incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured using the index or rate at 
the commencement date), the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of purchase 
options (if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options) and payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term 
reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is presented within current and non-current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. It is subsequently 
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing 
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. The Group remeasures this liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the 
related right-of-use asset) whenever the lease term has changed or there is a change in the lease payments used on inception to measure 
the liability as described above.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the 
commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership 
of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described 
in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. 
The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are 
included in ‘Operating expenses’ in profit or loss.

(v) Adoption of new and revised Standards
Amendments to IFRSs and IASs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs and IASs issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2020. These have been listed below. 
Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements.

 > Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards: Amendments to IFRS 2, 3, 6, 14, IAS 1, 8, 34, 37, 38, IFRIC 12, 
19, 20, 22 and SIC-32

 > Amendments to IFRS 3: Amendments to clarify the definition of a business
 > Amendments to IFRS 7: Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform
 > Amendments to IFRS 9: Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform
 > Amendments to IAS 16: Amendment to provide lessees with an exemption from assessing whether Covid-19 related rent concession is a 

lease modification 
 > Amendments to IAS 1: Amendments regarding the definition of material 
 > Amendmnets to IAS 8: Amendments regarding the definition of material
 > Amendments to IAS 39: Amendments regarding pre-replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform
 > Amendments to IAS 41: Amendments resulting from ‘Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020’

S
trategic report

C
orporate governance

Financial statem
ents

A
dditional inform

ation



Financial statements

48 GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
IFRSs, IASs and amendments that are in issue but not yet effective
At the date of approval of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the following IFRSs, IASs and amendments, which have not been applied 
in these Consolidated Financial Statements and are not envisaged to have a material impact on the financial statements when they are 
applied, were in issue but not yet effective:

 > Amendments to IFRS 1: Amendments resulting from ‘Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020’
 > Amendments to IFRS 3: Amendments updating a reference to the ‘Conceptual Framework’
 > Amendments to IFRS 4: Amendments regarding the expiry date of the deferral approach
 > Amendments to IFRS 4: Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform
 > Amendments to IFRS 7: Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform
 > Amendments to IFRS 9: Amendments resulting from ‘Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020’
 > Amendments to IFRS 9: Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform
 > Amendments to IFRS 16: Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform 
 > IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts
 > Amendments to IFRS 17: Amendments to address concerns and implementation challenges that were identified after IFRS 17 was published
 > Amendments to IAS 1: Amendments regarding the classification of liabilities
 > Amendments to IAS 1: Amendments to defer the effective date of the January 2020 amendments
 > Amendments to IAS 1: Amendments regarding the disclosure of Accounting Policies
 > Amendments to IAS 8: Amendments regarding the definition of accounting estimates
 > Amendments to IAS 15: Amendments prohibiting a company from deducting from the cost of property, land and equipment amounts 

received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use
 > Amendments to IAS 37: Amendments regarding the costs to include when assessing whether a contract is onerous
 > Amendments to IAS 39: Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of the IBOR reform 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the directors are required to make judgements (other than 
those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. There is no change in applying accounting policies for critical accounting estimates and judgments 
from the prior year. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the directors 
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements.

Fair value accounting for FinTech Ventures investments
Some of the Group’s FinTech Ventures investments meet the definition of an associate. However, the Group has applied the exemption 
available under IAS 28.18 which states that when an investment in an associate is held by, or is held indirectly through, an entity that 
is a venture capital organisation, the entity may elect to measure investments in those associates at fair value through profit or loss 
in accordance with IAS 39 - Financial Instruments. 

The Directors consider that the Group is of a nature similar to a venture capital organisation on the basis that FinTech Ventures investments 
form part of a portfolio which is monitored and managed without distinguishing between investments that qualify as associate undertakings. 
Furthermore, the most appropriate point in time for exit from such investments is being actively monitored as part of the Group’s investment 
strategy. 

The Group therefore designates those investments in associates which qualify for this exemption as fair value through profit or loss. Refer to 
Note 23 for fair value techniques used. If the Group had not applied this exemption the investments would be accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. This would have the impact of taking a share of each investment’s profit or loss for the year and would also affect the 
carrying value of the investments.

The Directors consider that equity and loan stock share the same investment characteristics and risks and they are therefore treated as a 
single unit of account for valuation purposes and a single class for disclosure purposes.
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Exit fees
The Directors consider that the economic measurement of fee revenues that arise and become due on the completion of a loan (exit fees 
and warrants) should be accounted for as variable consideration and the exit fee constrained to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. Variable consideration is included based on the expected 
value or most likely amount, with the estimated transaction price associated with syndication services (being the performance obligation to 
which these fees are attributable) due on collection of the loan, updated at the end of each reporting period to represent the circumstances 
present and any changes in circumstances during the reporting period. This includes factors such as timing risk, liquidity risk, quantum 
uncertainty and conditions precedent in the syndicated finance contract. The Directors consider that this treatment best reflects the 
commercial operations of the Group as an administrator of loan arrangements.

IFRS 10 Control Judgements
Judgement is sometimes required to determine whether after considering all relevant factors, the Group has control, joint control or 
significant influence over an entity or arrangement. Other companies may make different judgements regarding the same entity or 
arrangement. The Directors have assessed whether or not the Group has control over Sancus Loan Notes 5 and 6 based on whether the 
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors considered the rights 
associated with its investment in preference shares. After assessment, the directors concluded that the Group does not have the ability to 
affect returns through voting rights (the preference shares do not have voting rights) or other arrangements such as direct management 
of these entities (the Group does not have control over the investment manager). If the Directors had concluded that the ownership of 
preference shares was sufficient to give the Group control, these entities would instead have been consolidated with the results of the Group.

IFRS 9 Credit Risk
Credit risk and determining when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred are critical accounting judgements and are assessed at 
each reporting period end. Credit risk is used to calculate estimated credit losses (ECL). Further details on credit risk can be found in Note 23. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period, that may have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are 
discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill
As detailed in Note 12, the Directors carry out an impairment review annually to assess whether goodwill is impaired. In doing so, the Directors 
assess the value-in-use of each cash-generating unit through an internal discounted cash flow analysis. The last impairment review was 
carried out for June 2020 interim reporting, which will be the annual test date for future reporting periods. 

Given the nature of the Group’s operations, the calculation of value-in-use is sensitive to the estimation of future cash flows and the discount 
rates applied. During the annual impairment review, the value-in-use calculations modelled a significant downturn in revenue cash flows, 
driven by low levels of lending activity in the 6 months from June 2020. Following this 6 month period of low activity, it was modelled that 
loan origination in quarter four 2020 would start to pick up and return to pre-pandemic levels in quarter two 2021. It is noted that with 
the pandemic ongoing, probably into quarter three 2021, and second waves of infection having been experienced across the globe, loan 
origination has remained low as the underlying projects in the pipeline of borrowers have been delayed or paused in response.

The Board, at this point in time, continue to believe that once jurisdictions come fully out of lockdown and the vaccination programme is rolled 
out, further lending opportunities will arise and loan origination will return to pre-pandemic levels in accordance with the pattern described 
above, so by the end of 2021. The timing of recovery is therefore considered to be a key source of estimation uncertainty when determining 
the recoverable amount of the Group’s cash-generating units. The impairment test results and further details are included in Note 12. 
Accounting policies relating to the valuation and impairment of goodwill can be found at Notes 2(h) and (k).

IFRS 9 ECL
Key areas of estimation and uncertainty are the probabilities of default (PD) and the probabilities of loss given default (PL) which are used 
along with the credit risk in the calculation of ECL. Further details on ECLs, PD and PL can be found in Note 23. Should the estimates of PD or 
PL prove to be different from what actually happens in the future, then the recoverability of loans could be higher or lower than the accounts 
currently suggest, although this should be mitigated by the levels of LTV which are, in the main, less than 70%. Where loans are in default and 
classified within stage 3, the Directors estimate of the present value of amounts recoverable through enforcement or other repayment plans 
could be materially different to the actual proceeds received to settle the balances due. In respect of certain loans held by the Group, the 
range of outcomes is significant and has a material impact on the calculation of ECL. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
Fair Value of the FinTech Ventures investments
The Group invests in financial instruments which are not quoted in active markets and measures their fair values as detailed in Note 23. 

All of the FinTech Ventures investments are categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and in the past, the Directors have estimated 
the fair value of financial instruments using discounted cash flow methodology, comparable market transactions, recent capital raises and 
other transactional data including the performance of the respective businesses. Having considered the terms, rights and characteristics 
of the equity and loan stock held by the Group in the FinTech Ventures investments, as well as the challenges that have faced the platforms 
during the pandemic, this has eroded the Board’s estimate of liquidation value of these assets to £nil at 31 December 2020. Changes in the 
performance of these businesses and access to future returns via its current holdings could affect the amounts ultimately realised on the 
disposal of these investments, which may be greater than £nil. 

4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the manner in which the Executive Team reports to the Board, which is regarded 
to be the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) as defined under IFRS 8. The FinTech Ventures Portfolio has been written down to £nil 
during the year. The main focus of the Group is Sancus BMS. Bearing this in mind the Executive Team have identified 4 segments based on 
operations and geography within the previous Sancus BMS segment on which they report to the Board separately. Segmental reporting has 
been amended in this set of financial statements to reflect this.

Finance costs and Head Office costs are not allocated to segments as such costs are driven by Central teams who provide, amongst 
other services, finance, treasury, secretarial and other administrative functions based on need. The Group’s borrowings are not allocated 
to segments as these are managed by the Central team. Segment assets and liabilities are measured in the same way as in these financial 
statements and are allocated to segments based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of those assets and liabilities. 

The four segments based on geography, whose operations are identical (within reason), are listed below. Note that Sancus Loans Limited, 
although based in the UK, is reported separately as a stand-alone entity to the Board and as such is considered to be a segment in its 
own right.

1. Offshore
Contains the operations of Sancus (Jersey) Limited, Sancus (Guernsey) Limited, Sancus (Gibraltar) Limited, Sancus Properties Limited and 
Sancus BMS Group Limited.

2. United Kingdom (UK)
Contains the operations of Sancus Funding Limited and Sancus Finance Limited.

3. Ireland
Contains the operations of Sancus BMS (Ireland) Limited.

4. Sancus Loans Limited
Contains the operations of Sancus Loans Limited.



51GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

Reconciliation to Financial Statements

Year to 31 December 
2020

Offshore
£’000

UK
£’000

Ireland
£’000

Sancus
Loans

Limited 
(SLL)

£’000

Sancus 
Debt 

Costs
£’000

Total 
Sancus

£’000

Head 
Office
£’000

SLL Debt
Costs
£’000

Fintech
Ventures

Fair Value 
& Forex

£’000
Other
£’000

Financial
Statements

£’000

Revenue 4,338 638 628 876 – 6,480 – 3,785 – 596 10,861

Operating Profit/
(loss)* 1,916 (672) 201 859 – 2,304 (890) – – (302) 1,112
Credit Losses (3,923) – – (965) – (4,888) – – – 223 (4,665)
Debt Costs – – – – (1,952) (1,952) – – – – (1,952)
Other Gains/
(losses) 4 – – – – 4 – – (6,022) (1,072) (7,090)
Loss on JVs and 
associates – – – – – – – – – (1,937) (1,937)
Taxation 15 – – – – 15 – – – – 15

Profit After Tax (1,988) (672) 201 (106) (1,952) (4,517) (890) – (6,022) (3,088) (14,517)

Year to 31 December 
2019

Revenue 6,621 490 263 723 – 8,097 – 3,015 – 2,028 13,140

Operating Profit/
(loss)* 3,431 (1,066) (225) 707 – 2,847 (938) – – 832 2,741
Credit Losses (552) – – – – (552) – – – (1,088) (1,640)
Debt Costs – – – – (1,680) (1,680) – – – – (1,680)
Other Gains/
(losses) – – – – – – – – (7,543) (1,669) (9,212)
Profit on JVs and 
associates – – – – – – – – – 103 103
Taxation (269) 37 – – – (232) – – – – (232)

Profit After Tax 2,610 (1,029) (225) 707 (1,680) 383 (938) – (7,543) (1,822) (9,920)
* Operating Profit/(loss) before credit losses and debt costs.

Sancus Loans Limited is consolidated into the Group’s results as it is 100% owned by Sancus Group. However, the reality is that Sancus Loans 
Limited is a co-funder the same as any other Co-Funder. As a result the Board reviews the economic performance of Sancus Loans Limited 
in the same way as any other Co-Funder, with revenue being stated net of debt costs. Operating expenses in 2020 include recharges from 
UK to Offshore £110,000, Offshore to Ireland £74,000, Head Office to “Other” £52,000 and Head Office to Offshore £120,000. “Other” includes 
Fintech (excluding fair value and forex) and Sancus BMS Holdings operations.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020

4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING continued

Reconciliation to Financial Statements

At 31 December 2020
Offshore

£’000
UK

£’000
Ireland

£’000

Sancus
Loan

 Limited
(SLL)

£’000

Total
Sancus

£’000

Head
Office
£’000

Investment 
in IOM
£’000

Fintech
Portfolio

£’000
Other
£’000

Inter
Company
Balances

£’000

Financial
Statements

£’000

Total Assets 44,486 7,203 488 54,131 106,308 47,137 866 – 4,177 (55,549) 102,939

Total Liabilities (38,720) (8,214) (679) (53,255) (100,868) (27,774) – – (352) 55,549 (73,445)

Net Assets/
(liabilities) 5,766 (1,011) (191) 876 5,440 19,363 866 – 3,825 – 29,494

At 31 December 2019

Total Assets 53,338 5,800 270 52,708 112,116 50,212 2,703 6,299 8,503 (65,833) 114,000

Total Liabilities (46,064) (6,123) (640) (51,702) (104,529) (27,658) – – (7,273) 65,833 (73,627)

Net Assets/
(liabilities) 7,274 (323) (370) 1,006 7,587 22,554 2,703 6,299 1,230 – 40,373

Head Office liabilities include borrowings £24,897,000 (2019: £26,825,000). Other Fintech assets and liabilities, and Sancus BMS Holdings 
assets and liabilities are included within “Other”. 

5. REVENUE

2020 
£’000

2019
£’000

Co-Funder fees 1,836 1,903
Earn out (exit) fees 1,863 1,337
Advisory fees 399 565
Transaction fees 1,434 2,095
Total revenue from contracts with customers 5,532 5,900

Interest on Loans 456 2,995
HIT Interest income 4,660 3,737
Sundry income 213 508
Total Revenue 10,861 13,140

The disaggregation of revenue reflects the different performance obligations in contracts with customers as described in the accounting 
policy Note 2(o) and the typical timing of payment for those relevant revenue streams.



53GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

6. COST OF SALES
2020 

£’000
2019

£’000

Interest costs 2,016 1,750
HIT interest costs 3,785 3,015
Other cost of sales 317 361
Total cost of sales 6,118 5,126

7. OPERATING EXPENSES
2020 

£’000
2019

£’000

Amortisation and depreciation 428 519
Audit fees 231 231
Company Secretarial 78 132
Corporate Insurance 72 73
Employment costs 3,573 4,406
Independent valuation fees – 56
Investor relations expenses 67 65
Legal & Professional 222 156
Marketing expenses 38 55
NOMAD fees 75 76
Other office and administration costs 620 818
Pension costs 145 321
Registrar fees 23 35
Sundry 10 10
Total operating expenses 5,582 6,953

8. NET LOSSES
The £3,032,000 Other net losses is predominantly made up of the write down of other assets £892,000 (Note 14) and loss on joint ventures 
and associates £1,937,000 (Note 9). (2019 £1,616,000: predominantly made up of the write down of other assets £987,000 (Note 14), net loss 
on joint ventures and associates £152,000 (Note 9) and the write down of equity in the UK Sarl £228,000).
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
31 December

2020 
£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000

At beginning of year 2,703 2,855
Additions 100 –
Share of (loss)/profit of associate (574) 103
Share of loss in joint venture (100) (121)
Write down joint venture/associate (1,263) (134)
At end of year 866 2,703

The investment in joint venture relates to a 50% share in Amberton Asset Management Limited.

Details of material associates
Proportion of ownership interest/

voting rights held by the group

Principal Activity Place of Incorporation
31 December

2020
31 December

2019

Sancus (Isle of Man) Holdings Limited Holding Company for Sancus (IOM) Limited Guernsey 29.32% 29.32%

The above associate is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements as set out in the Group’s 
accounting policies in Note 2. 

Summarised financial information in respect of Sancus (Isle of Man) Holdings is set out below. The summarised financial information 
represents amounts in associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

31 December
2020

£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

Non-current assets 2 2
Current assets 4,821 6,675
Current liabilities (164) (55)
Equity attributable to owners of the company 4,659 6,622

Revenue 278 347
Profit from continuing operations 250 233
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Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Sancus (Isle of Man) Holdings Limited 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

31 December 
2020 

£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

Net assets of associate 4,659 6,622

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the associate 1,366 1,940
Goodwill arising on acquisition 763 763
Write down of carrying value (1,263) –
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associate 866 2,703

10. LOSS PER ORDINARY SHARE
Consolidated loss per Ordinary Share has been calculated by dividing the consolidated loss for the year after tax attributable to Ordinary 
Shareholders of £14,517,000 (31 December 2019: loss of £9,920,000) by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (excluding treasury 
shares) outstanding during the period of 315,797,259 (31 December 2019: 304,328,347). 

Note 16 describes the warrants in issue. Taking these warrants into account the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares used in 
calculating the diluted loss per share was 346,046,187. There was no dilutive effect in the prior year.

2020 2019

Number of shares 489,843,477 312,065,699
Weighted average no. of shares in issue throughout the year 315,797,259 304,328,347
Basic Loss per share (4.60)p (3.26)p
Diluted Loss per share (4.19)p (3.26)p
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Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020

11. FIXED ASSETS
Right-of-use

assets 
£’000

Property &
Equipment

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost
At 31 December 2019 1,089 433 1,522
Additions in the year – 29 29
Leases expired (75) – (75)
Lease variations 253 – 253
At 31 December 2020 1,267 462 1,729

Accumulated depreciation
At 31 December 2019 231 273 504
Charge in the year 208 54 262
Leases expired (75) – (75)
Lease variations 264 – 264
At 31 December 2020 628 327 955

Net book value 31 December 2020 639 135 774

Net book value 31 December 2019 858 160 1,018

12. GOODWILL
£’000

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 goodwill comprises:
Sancus Jersey 14,255
Sancus Gibraltar 8,639

22,894

Impairment tests
The carrying amount of goodwill arising on the acquisition of Sancus Jersey and Sancus Gibraltar is assessed by the Board for impairment 
on an annual basis or sooner if there has been any indication of impairment. With the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020 
management decide to bring forward the impairment test date to 30 June so that in future periods the annual assessment will be performed 
during the preparation of the interim accounts. As a result, the Board carried out a full impairment review of the carrying amount of goodwill 
as reported in the interim accounts. Full details of this review are detailed below:

The value-in-use of Sancus Jersey and Sancus Gibraltar was based on an internal Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) value-in-use analysis 
using cash flow forecasts for the years 2020/21 to 2024/25. The starting point for each of the cash flows was the revised forecast for 2020 
produced by Sancus Jersey and Gibraltar management. Management’s revenue forecasts applied a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) to 
revenue of 7.3% and 8.4% for Jersey and Gibraltar respectively. A cost of equity discount rate of 12.8% was employed in the valuation model 
for Sancus Jersey and 13.3% for Sancus Gibraltar. The resultant valuation indicated that no impairment of goodwill was required in either 
Sancus Jersey or Sancus Gibraltar, with significant headroom. Following on from this review the Board have considered whether there have 
been any further indicative events of impairment since June 2020. The Board are cognisant that the pandemic is ongoing as these financial 
statements are being written. However, they do not see this as a further event, more as a continuation of the event that arose in March 2020. 
The Board has concluded that there have been no further impairment indicators and that the annual test date (as required) has formally been 
moved to the interim reporting date of 30 June. 



57GLI Finance Annual Report 2020

Goodwill valuation sensitivities
When the discounted cash flow valuation methodology is utilised as the primary goodwill impairment test, the variables which influence 
the results most significantly are the discount rates applied to the future cash flows and the revenue forecasts. The table below shows 
the impact on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income of stress testing the period end goodwill valuation with a decrease 
in revenues of 10% and an increase in cost of equity discount rate of 3%. These potential changes in key assumptions fall within historic 
variations experienced by the business (taking other factors into account) and are therefore deemed reasonable. The current model reveals 
that a sustained decrease in revenue of circa 20% for Jersey and circa 25% for Gibraltar or a sustained increase of circa 8% in the cost of 
Equity discount rate for Jersey and circa 12% for Gibraltar would remove the headroom. The model assumes that the downturn relating to 
Covid-19 is a temporary downturn and that once things get back to normal, activity in each of Jersey and Gibraltar will get back to more 
normal levels within a year. 

Sensitivity Applied
Reduction in headroom implied by sensitivity

Sancus 
Jersey
£’000

Sancus 
Gibraltar

£’000
Total 

£’000

10% decrease in revenue per annum 5,526 3,359 8,885
3% increase in cost of Equity discount rate 5,054 3,091 8,145
Covid-19 restricts revenue for the whole of 2021 2,800 1,800 4,600

Neither a 10% decrease in revenue, a 3% increase in the cost of Equity discount rate or the suppression of revenue for a year implies  
a reduction of Goodwill in Jersey or Gibraltar. 

The value-in-use models do not use any backward-looking information, with only future cash flows considered in the calculations. As such 
were the models to be run again the Board believes that the cash flows would be similar with only modest reductions (well within the current 
headroom), due to the period of inactivity being extended within the models. The Board has also considered the discount rates used in the 
models. The discount rates already had both Brexit uncertainty and the Covid-19 pandemic built into them. It is expected that with Brexit 
uncertainty subsiding and the roll out of the vaccine in respect of Covid-19 the discount rates should fall back to more ‘normal’ levels.

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
£’000

Cost
At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 1,584

Amortisation
At 31 December 2019 1,250
Charge for the year 166
At 31 December 2020 1,416

Net book value 31 December 2020 168

Net book value 31 December 2019 334

Other Intangible assets comprise capitalised contractors’ costs and other costs related to core systems development. No impairment 
provision has been recorded. The amortisation charge has been recorded in Operating expenses.
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14. OTHER ASSETS
Development

properties 
£’000

At 31 December 2019 3,336
Additions 236
Disposals (1,665)
Write downs (892)
At 31 December 2020 1,015

Properties 
held for sale 

£’000

 Development
properties 

£’000
Total 

£’000

At 31 December 2018 1,377 3,027 4,404
Transfers (509) 509 –
Additions 17 787 804
Disposals (885) – (885)
Write downs – (987) (987)
At 31 December 2019 – 3,336 3,336

Other assets comprise of a number of repossessed properties and developments which were previously held as security against certain 
loans which have defaulted. The write down in the year and the prior year is that necessary to bring the assets to the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. The remaining £1.0m comprises of one development property which is held at cost plus the net realisable value of 
a development plot.

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
31 December

2020 
£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

Dividend income receivable – 68
Loan fees, interest and similar receivable 7,438 5,140
Receivable from associated companies 49 13
Derivative contracts (note 23) 94 156
Other trade receivables and prepaid expenses 623 532
Total trade and other receivables 8,204 5,909

Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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16. SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM & DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
GLI Finance Limited has the power under its articles of association to issue an unlimited number of Ordinary Shares of no par value.

177,777,778 (2019: Nil) additional Ordinary shares were issued during the year for a consideration of £4,000,000 (2019: £Nil).

Share Capital
Ordinary shares – nil par value Shares in issue

At 31 December 2019 312,065,699
Issued during the year 177,777,778
At 31 December 2020 489,843,477

Share Premium
Ordinary shares – nil par value  £’000

At 31 December 2019 112,557
Issued during the year 4,000
Costs of issue (339)
At 31 December 2020 116,218

Ordinary shareholders have the right to attend and vote at Annual General Meetings and the right to any dividends or other distributions 
which the company may make in relation to that class of share.

Treasury Shares
31 December

2020 
Number 

of shares

31 December
2019 

Number 
of shares

Balance at start of the year 7,925,999 6,154,102
GLI shares transferred to key members of management1 – (2,788,577)
GLI shares purchased from BMS management2 – 4,560,474
Balance at end of year 7,925,999 7,925,999

31 December
2020 

£’000

31 December
2019

 £’000

Balance at start of the year 1,099 1,162
GLI shares transferred to key members of management1 – (399)
GLI shares purchased from BMS management2 – 336
Balance at end of year 1,099 1,099

1 represents bonus amounts paid in shares.
2 represents shares purchased from former members of BMS Finance AB’s management team.

Warrants in Issue
On 22 December 2020, in connection with the issue of the New Bonds, the Company issued 153,994,543 Warrants to subscribe in cash for 
new Ordinary Shares at a subscription price of 2.25 pence per Ordinary Share. The Warrants will be exercisable on at least 30 days notice in 
the period to 31 December 2025. As at 31 December 2020 and up to the date of signing these accounts none of these warrants have been 
exercised. All warrants existing at 31 December 2019 have now expired. The warrants in issue are classified as equity instruments because 
a fixed amount of cash is exchangeable for a fixed amount of equity, there being no other features which could justify a financial liability 
classification. The fair value of the warrants at 31 December 2020 is £847,000 (2019: £Nil).
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17. LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

31 December
2020

£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

ZDP shares (1) 12,424 –
Corporate Bond (2) 12,473 10,000
HIT Facility (3) 44,553 44,191
Lease creditors (notes 2(u), 2(v) & 25) 469 679
Total non-current liabilities 69,919 54,870

Current liabilities

31 December
2020

£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

ZDP shares (1) – 16,825
Accounts payable 436 91
Accruals and other payables 1,202 1,404
Taxation 118 221
Deferred income 40 5
Provisions for financial guarantees 1,542 –
Lease creditors (notes 2(u), 2(v) & 25) 188 211
Total current liabilities 3,526 18,757

Provisions for financial guarantees have been recognised in relation to ECLs on off-balance sheet loans and debtors where the company has 
provided a subordinated position or other guarantee (note 26). The fair value is determined using the exact same methodology as that used 
in determining ECLs (note 2(f) and note 23). The amount charged to operating profit in the year was £1,542,000 (2019: £Nil), there being no 
other movements (2019: £Nil provision and no movements).

Interest costs on debt facilities
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

ZDP shares (1) 1,246 980
Corporate Bond (2) 706 700
HIT Facility (3) 3,785 3,015
Lease Interest 64 70
Total interest costs on debt facilities 5,801 4,765

Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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(1) ZDP shares
The ZDP Shares have a maturity date of 5 December 2022 with a final capital entitlement of £1.6464 per ZDP Share.

Under the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 shares in the Company can only be redeemed if the Company can satisfy the solvency test 
prescribed under that law. Refer to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Incorporation for full detail of the rights attached to the ZDP 
Shares. This document can be accessed via the Company’s website www.glifinance.com. 

The ZDP shares bear interest at an average rate of 8% (2019: 5.5% until 5 December 2019, 8% thereafter). In accordance with article 7.5.5 of 
the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Incorporation, the Company may not incur more than £30m of long term debt without the prior 
approval from the ZDP shareholders. The Memorandum and Articles also specify that two debt cover tests must be met in relation to the 
ZDPs. At 31 December 2020 the Company was in compliance with these covenants as Cover Test A was 2.83 (minimum of 1.7) and Cover 
Test B was 4.42 (minimum of 3.25). At 31 December 2020 senior debt borrowing capacity amounted to £17.4m. The HIT facility does not 
impact on this capacity as it is non-recourse to GLI. 

In addition to a tender offer in March 2020, whereby the company acquired 3,437,000 ZDP shares, the company purchased a further 637,570 
ZDP shares throughout the year. At 31 December 2020 the Company held 12,009,030 shares (31 December 2019: 7,934,460) with an 
aggregate value of £17,051,409 (31 December 2019: £10,428,955). Additional ZDPs were acquired post year end as described in Note 27.

(2) Corporate Bond
£6,125,000 of the existing £10m bonds were repaid early on 21 December 2020 (maturity was 30 June 2021). The remaining £3,875,000 were 
rolled into new bonds which were issued on 22nd December 2020. In addition to these a further £8,700,000 new bonds were issued for cash 
on 22nd December 2020 giving a total amount of new bonds issued £12,575,000 (£15m may be issued over the life of the bonds). The bonds 
bear interest at 7% (2019: 7%). The new bonds have a maturity date of 31 December 2025.

(3) HIT Facility
On 29 January 2018, GLI Finance signed a new funding facility with Honeycomb Investment Trust plc (HIT). The funding line had a term of 
3 years and comprises a £45m accordion and revolving credit facility. On 3 December 2020 this facility was extended to 28th January 2024. 
In addition to the extension the facility was increased to £75m. The facility bears interest at 7.25%. 

The HIT facility has portfolio performance covenants including that actual loss rates are not to exceed 4% in any twelve month period and 
underperforming loans are not to exceed 10% of the portfolio. Sancus BMS Group has a £5m first loss position on the HIT facility. GLI has 
also provided HIT with a guarantee, capped at £2m that will continue to ensure the orderly wind down of the loan book, in the event of the 
insolvency of Sancus BMS Group, given its position as facility and security agent.

18. TAXATION
The Company is exempt from Guernsey taxation under the Income Tax (Exempt Bodies) (Guernsey) Ordinance, 1989. A fixed annual fee of 
£1,200 (31 December 2019: £1,200) is payable to the States of Guernsey in respect of this exemption.

Reconciliation of tax charge
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Accounting loss before tax (14,532) (9,688)

Gibraltar Corporation Tax at 10% (2019: 10%) – 186
Jersey Corporation Tax at 10% (2019: 10%) – 57
UK R&D Tax credit – (37)
Adjustment in respect of prior years (15) 26
Tax (credit)/expense (15) 232

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries have an estimated £13.0m of losses between them available to carry forward to offset against qualifying 
future trading profits. The Group does not recognise deferred tax assets in respect of losses arising because in the opinion of the directors 
the quantum and timing of any suitable profits which can utilise these losses is unknown.
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19. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Cash generated from operations (excluding loan movements)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Loss for the year (14,517) (9,920)
Adjustments for:
Net losses on FinTech Ventures 5,936 7,566
Other net losses (221) (86)
ZDP finance costs 1,039 980
Fair Value joint ventures and associates 1,937 152
Changes in expected credit losses 4,665 1,524
Impairment of financial assets – 116
Amortisation/depreciation of fixed assets 428 519
Amortisation of debt issue costs 201 118
SPL Properties 960 987

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables (4,303) (537)
Trade and other payables 38 (884)
Cash (outflow)/inflow from operations (excluding loan movements) (3,837) 535

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The tables below detail changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in the Group’s 
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

1 January
2020 

£’000
Payments1

£’000
Receipts1

£’000

Debt issue
costs1

£’000

Additions
Non-cash

£’000

Amortisation 
of debt 

issue costs 
Non-cash 

£’000

Other 
Non-cash 

£’000

31 December 
2020 

£’000

ZDP Shares 16,825 (4,443) – (44) (829)2 76 8393 12,424
Corporate Bond 10,000 (6,125) 8,700 (111) – 1 83 12,473
HIT Facility 44,191 (3,500) 4,187 (159) – 124 (290)3 44,553
Lease Liability 890 (216) – – – – (17)4 657
Total liabilities 71,906 (14,284) 12,887 (314) (829) 201 540 70,107

Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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1 January 
2019 

£’000
Payments1

£’000
Receipts1 

£’000

Debt issue 
costs1

£’000

Additions 
Non-Cash 

£’000

Amortisation 
of debt 

issue costs 
Non-cash 

£’000

Interest
Accruals

Non-cash 
£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000

ZDP Shares 24,059 (7,632) – (80) – 6 472 16,825
Corporate Bond 10,000 – – – – – – 10,000
HIT Facility 22,684 (2,000) 23,395 – – 112 – 44,191
Lease Liability 847 (190) – – 233 – – 890
Total liabilities 57,590 (9,822) 23,395 (80) 233 118 472 71,906

1 These amounts can be found under financing cash flows in the cash flow statement.
2  A loan to the value of £829,000 which sat within Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents was swapped for 621,586 ZDP shares.
3  Comprises interest accruals and unpaid debt issue costs.
4  Lease variations.

20. CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
The Directors consider the following entities as wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2020. Their results and financial 
positions are included within its consolidated results.

Subsidiary entity Date of incorporation Country of incorporation Nature of holding
Percentage

holding

Sancus BMS Group Limited 27 December 2013 Guernsey Directly held -Equity Shares 100%
Sancus BMS Holdings Limited 5 November 2012 Guernsey Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus (Jersey) Limited 1 July 2013 Jersey Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus (Guernsey) Limited 18 June 2014 Guernsey Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus (Gibraltar) Limited 10 March 2015 Gibraltar Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus BMS (Ireland) Limited 10 April 2017 Ireland Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus Funding Limited 17 February 2011 UK Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus Finance Limited 7 January 2011 UK Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
FinTech Ventures Limited 9 December 2015 Guernsey Directly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus Properties Limited 21 August 2018 Guernsey Indirectly held - Equity Shares 100%
Sancus Loans Limited 3 July 2017 UK Indirectly held – Equity Shares 100%

Sancus BMS Group Limited and Sancus Finance Limited act as holding companies. Sancus Properties Limited engages in property 
development. Fintech Ventures Limited is an investment company, investing in Fintech companies. The activities of the remaining companies 
named above relate to the core business of lending. 
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21. DISPOSALS
On 18 December 2020 the Group sold the entire share capital of BMS Finance AB Limited for consideration of £1. In the period 1 January 
2020 to 17 December 2020 BMS Finance AB generated revenue of £399,000 and had operating costs of £527,000 making a loss of £128,000 
for the period. This loss has been consolidated into these Financial Statements. As at the date of disposal BMS Finance AB Limited held cash 
of £215,000, current assets of £15,000 and current liabilities of £129,000. Loss on disposal was £101,000 which has been charged to Other 
net losses in the statement of comprehensive income.

22. FINTECH VENTURES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS
The Directors consider the following entities as associated undertakings of the Group as at 31 December 2020.

Name of Investment: Nature of holding Country of incorporation
Percentage

holding Measurement

FinTech Ventures:
LiftForward Inc Indirectly held - Equity United States of America 18.41% Fair Value
Finexkap Indirectly held - Equity France 10.89% Fair Value
Ovamba Solutions Inc Indirectly held - Equity United States of America 20.18% Fair Value
Funding Options Limited Indirectly held - Equity and Preference Shares United Kingdom 21.4% Fair Value
TradeRiver Finance Limited Indirectly held - Equity and Preference Shares United Kingdom 46.70% Fair Value
Open Energy Group Inc Indirectly held - Equity United States of America 22.71% Fair Value
Finpoint Limited Indirectly held - Equity United Kingdom 12.95% Fair Value
Other Investments:
BMS Finance (UK) Sarl Indirectly held - Equity Luxembourg 25.25% Fair Value

The percentage holdings in the above table are on a fully diluted basis, assuming any warrants and management options all vest. During 
2020, the equity stakes in MyTripleA and TradeRiver USA Inc were sold in total for £0.4m. 

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents

31 December
2020 

£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000

Non-current
Sancus BMS loans 442 3,099
Sancus Loans Limited loans 3,421 5,851
Total non-current Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents 3,863 8,950

Current
Sancus BMS loans 7,873 15,145
Loan equivalents 117 134
Sancus Loans Limited loans 41,379 40,034
Total current Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents 49,369 55,313

Total Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents 53,232 64,263

Notes to the financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Fair Value Estimation
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are grouped into the fair value 
hierarchy as follows:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Assets
Level 2

£’000
Level 3

£’000
Level 2

£’000
Level 3

£’000

FinTech Ventures investments – – – 6,299
Derivative contracts 94 – 156 –
Total assets at Fair Value 94 – 156 6,299

All of the FinTech Ventures investments are categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. In the past the Directors have estimated the 
fair value of financial instruments using discounted cash flow methodology, comparable market transactions, recent capital raises and 
other transactional data including the performance of the respective businesses. Having considered the terms, rights and characteristics 
of the equity and loan stock held by the Group in the FinTech Ventures investments, as well as the challenges that have faced the platforms 
during the pandemic, this has eroded the Board’s estimate of liquidation value of these assets to £nil at 31 December 2020. Changes in 
the performance of these businesses and access to future returns via its current holdings could affect the amounts ultimately realised on 
the disposal of these investments, which may be greater than £nil. There have been no transfers between levels in the year (2019: None).

FinTech Ventures investments

31 December 2020
Equity
£’000

Loans
£’000

Total
£’000

Opening fair value 4,500 1,799 6,299
Net new investments/(divestments) – (277) (277)
Unrealised losses recognised in profit and loss (4,500) (1,496) (5,996)
Foreign exchange loss – (26) (26)
Closing fair value – – –

31 December 2019
Equity
£’000

Loans
£’000

Total
£’000

Opening fair value 11,608 2,196 13,804
New investments/loans advanced 12 26 38
Unrealised losses recognised in profit and loss (7,115) (378) (7,493)
Foreign exchange loss (5) (45) (50)
Closing fair value 4,500 1,799 6,299

Assets at Amortised Cost
31 December

2020
£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents 53,232 64,263
Trade and other receivables 7,487 5,221
Cash and cash equivalents 15,786 7,244
Total assets at amortised cost 76,505 76,728

Due to the relatively short-term nature of the above assets, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Liabilities at Amortised Cost
31 December

2020
£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

ZDP Shares 12,424 16,825
Corporate Bond 12,473 10,000
HIT Facility 44,553 44,191
Trade and other payables 2,453 2,611
Provisions in respect of guarantees 1,542 –
Total liabilities at amortised cost 73,445 73,627

Refer to Note 17 for further information on liabilities.

Risk Management
The Group is exposed to financial risk through its investment in a range of financial instruments, ie. in the equity and debt of investee 
companies and through the use of debt instruments to fund its investment in loans. Such risks are categorised as capital risk, liquidity risk, 
investment risk, credit risk, and market risk (market price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). 

Comments supplementary to those on risk management in the Corporate Governance section of this report are included below.

(1) Capital Risk Management
The Group’s capital comprises ordinary shares as well as a number of debt instruments. Its objective when managing this capital is to enable 
the Group to continue as a going concern in order to provide a consistent appropriate risk-adjusted return to shareholders, and to support the 
continued development of its investment activities. Details of the Group’s equity is disclosed in Note 16 and of its debt in Note 17.

The Group and its subsidiaries (with the exception of Sancus Funding Limited, which is regulated by the FCA) are not subject to regulatory 
or industry specific requirements to hold a minimum level of capital, other than the legal requirements for Guernsey incorporated entities. 
The Group considers the amount and composition of its capital is currently in proportion to its risk profile. 

The Group monitors the ratio of debt (loans payable, bonds and ZDP Shares) to other capital which, based upon shareholder approval, is 
limited to 5 to 1 (or 500%). At year-end this ratio increased to 235% (31 December 2019: 176%) due to the HIT facility. The HIT facility is non-
recourse to GLI. Excluding HIT, the ratio at year-end was 84% (31 December 2019: 66%).

(2) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due. At the end of the reporting period the group held cash of £15,786,000. The Group 
Treasury Committee monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s cash position in relation to its obligations as they become due on a fortnightly 
basis. In addition, the group’s liquidity management involves projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to 
meet obligations. Where necessary contingency plans are made to realise assets which are reasonably liquid in the short term.

The following table analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the period to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities

31 December 2020

Within 
12 months

£’000

Between 
1 and 2 years

£’000

Between 
2 and 5 years 

£’000
Total

£’000

ZDP shares – 12,424 – 12,424
Corporate bond – – 12,473 12,473
HIT Facility – – 44,553 44,553
Trade and other payables 3,526 200 269 3,995
Total liabilities 3,526 12,624 57,295 73,445
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31 December 2019

Within 
12 months

£’000

Between 
1 and 2 years

£’000

Between 
2 and 5 years 

£’000
Total

£’000

ZDP shares 16,825 – – 16,825
Corporate bond – 10,000 – 10,000
HIT Facility – 44,191 – 44,191
Trade and other payables 1,932 188 491 2,611
Total liabilities 18,757 54,379 491 73,627

(3) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates and that mismatches 
in the interest rates applying to assets and liabilities will impact on the Group’s earnings. 

The Group’s cash balances, debt instruments and loan notes are exposed to interest rate risk.

The Group did not enter into any interest rate risk hedging transactions during the current or prior years.

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk:

31 December 2020

Floating rate
Financial

Instruments
£’000

Fixed Rate
Financial

Instruments
£’000

Total
£’000

Assets
Sancus BMS Loans and loan equivalents 3,693 49,539 53,232
Cash and cash equivalents 15,786 – 15,786
Total assets 19,479 49,539 69,018

Liabilities
ZDP shares – 12,424 12,424
Corporate Bond – 12,473 12,473
HIT Facility – 44,553 44,553
Total liabilities – 69,450 69,450
Total interest sensitivity gap 19,479 (19,911) (432)

31 December 2019 £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets
Sancus BMS Loans and loan equivalents 7,135 57,128 64,263
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – 1,799 1,799
Cash and cash equivalents 7,244 – 7,244
Total assets 14,379 58,927 73,306

Liabilities
ZDP shares – 16,825 16,825
Corporate Bond – 10,000 10,000
HIT Facility – 44,191 44,191
Total liabilities – 71,016 71,016
Total interest sensitivity gap 14,379 (12,089) 2,290
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued
Interest rate sensitivities
The floating rate financial instruments (excluding cash) comprises of an investment in the UK Sarl. This investment attracts a fixed coupon 
and a variable coupon. The variable coupon is dependent on the performance of the Sarl as opposed to general interest rates. As a result, 
there is no exposure to interest rate movements (2019: Nil exposure). 

The Group currently holds £15,786,000 in cash deposits, predominantly in pound sterling. Whilst interest rates are currently negligible there is 
a risk that these could go negative. At the current level of cash deposits this could cost the group £158,000 per annum for every 1% decrease 
in interest rates. The Group does not hold significant amounts in foreign currencies for any period of time.

The GLI Treasury Committee reviews interest rate risk on an ongoing basis, and the exposure is reported quarterly to the Board and/or Audit 
and Risk Committee.

(4) Investment risk
Investment risk is defined as the risk that an investment’s actual return will be different to that expected. Investment risk primarily arises from 
the Group’s exposure to its FinTech Ventures portfolio (see Note 3). This risk in turn is driven by the underlying risks taken by the platforms 
themselves – their own strategic, liquidity, credit and operational risks.

The Group’s framework for the management of this risk includes the following:

 > Seats on the Boards of most of the platforms, which allow input into strategy and monitoring of progress;
 > pre-emptive rights on participation in capital raises, or the support for capital raises, to protect against dilution;
 > regular monitoring of the financial results of platforms;
 > bi-annual reviews of the valuations of platforms, which provide an opportunity to test the success of platforms’ strategies; and
 > quarterly reporting to the Board on these matters.

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements.

 > Level 1 – Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments. A market is regarded as “active” if 
transactions of the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis. 
The Group measures financial instruments quoted in an active market at a bid price.

 > Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted 
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors 
that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

 > Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based 
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments 
that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments but for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are 
required to reflect differences between the instruments. If in the case of any investment the Directors at any time consider that the above 
basis of valuation is inappropriate or that the value determined in accordance with the foregoing principles is unfair, they are entitled 
to substitute what in their opinion, is a fair value. In this case, the fair value is estimated with care and in good faith by the Directors in 
consultation with the Executive Team with a view to establishing the probable realisation value for such shares as at close of business 
on the relevant valuation day. 

All FinTech Ventures investments are fair valued at Level 3. No use of the discounted cash flow methodology has been utilized as at 
31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019. All investments have been valued at zero (2019: £6,299,000) using the Directors opinion as 
noted above, after taking into account all factors noted above. Following this valuation it is possible that in future years there may be 
some upside from this valuation given the company retains rights and positions in various instruments related to these investments. 
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(5) Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that a borrower/debtor may fail to make required repayments within the contracted time scale. The Group 
invests in senior debt, senior subordinated debt, junior subordinated debt and secured loans. Credit risk is taken in direct lending to third party 
borrowers, investing in loan funds, lending to associated platforms and loans arranged by associated platforms.

The Group mitigates credit risk by only entering into agreements related to loan instruments in which there is sufficient security held against 
the loans or where the operating strength of the investee companies is considered sufficient to support the loan amounts outstanding. 

Credit risk is determined on initial recognition of each loan and re-assessed at each balance sheet date. The risk assessment is undertaken 
by the Executive Team at the time of the agreements, and the Executive Team continues to evaluate the loan instruments in the context of 
these agreements. Credit risk is categorized into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 with Stage 1 being to recognize 12 month Expected Credit 
Losses (ECL), Stage 2 being to recognise Lifetime ECL not credit impaired and Stage 3 being to recognise Lifetime ECL credit impaired.

Credit risk is initially evaluated using the LTV and the circumstances of the individual borrower. For the majority of loans security takes the 
form of real estate. There has been no significant change in the quality of this security over the prior year. When determining credit risk 
macro-economic factors such as GDP, unemployment rates, the impact of Covid19 on real estate and other relevant factors are also taken 
into account. A loan is considered to be in default when there is a failure to meet the legal obligation of the loan agreement. Having regards 
to the principles of IFRS 9 this would also include provisions against loans that are considered by management as unlikely to pay their 
obligations in full without realisation of collateral. Once identified as being in default a re-assessment of the credit risk of that loan will be 
undertaken using the factors as noted above. A decision will then be made as to whether to credit impair that asset. 

In some instances borrowers will request loan modifications, extensions or renegotiation of terms. Any such event will trigger a reassessment 
of the credit risk of that loan where the reasons for the modification, extension or renegotiation will be carefully assessed and may result in 
that asset being credit impaired.

The entities in the Sancus BMS Group operate Credit Committees which are responsible for evaluating and deciding upon loan proposals, as 
well as monitoring the recoverability of loans, and taking action on any doubtful accounts. All lending undertaken by Sancus BMS is secured. 
The credit committee reports to the Sancus BMS Board on a quarterly basis.

Provision for ECL
A probability of default is assigned to each loan. This probability of default is arrived at by reference to historical data and the ongoing status 
of each loan which is reviewed on a regular basis. The loss given default is deemed to be nil where LTV is equal to or less than 65%, as it is 
assumed that the asset can be sold and full recovery made.

Provision for ECL is made using the credit risk, the probability of default (PD) and the loss given default (PL) all of which are underpinned 
by the Loan to Value (LTV), historical position, forward looking considerations and on occasion, subsequent events and the subjective 
judgement of the Board. Preliminary calculations for ECL are performed on a loan by loan basis using the simple formula Outstanding Loan 
Value (exposure at default) x PD x PL and are then amended as necessary according to the more subjective measures as noted above.

To reflect the time value of money ECL is discounted back to the reporting date using the effective interest rate of the asset (or an 
approximation thereof) that was determined at initial recognition.

The following tables provide information on amounts reserved for ECL on loans and loan equivalents as at 31 December 2020 and 
31 December 2019 based on the model adopted by management. Loans through platforms have been added to the table in 2020 
(previously disclosed separately and not included in the below analysis).
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents at 31 December 2020
Stage 1 

£’000
Stage 2 

£’000
Stage 3 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Closing loans at 31 December 2019* 54,188 8,849 1,195 64,232
Add loans through platforms 31 – – 31

54,219 8,849 1,195 64,263
New Loans 19,168 – – 19,168
Loans Repaid (25,267) (3,582) (19) (28,868)
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (380) 380 – –
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (5,768) – 5,768 –
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – (1,910) 1,910 –
Movement in ECL – 310 (1,641) (1,331)
Closing loans at 31 December 2020 41,972 4,047 7,213 53,232

Loss allowance at 31 December 2020
Stage 1 

£’000
Stage 2 

£’000
Stage 3 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Closing loss allowance at 31 December 2019* – 1,213 1,655 2,868
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – (125) 125 –
(Decrease)/Increase in provision – (222) 503 281
Individual financial assets transferred to Stage 3 – – 1,013 1,013
Individual financial assets transferred to Stage 2 – 37 – 37
Closing loss allowance at 31 December 2020 – 903 3,296 4,199

* Restated see below.

Assets transferred to Stage 2 and Stage 3 relate to loans where, on the balance of probabilities, full recovery may not be made. 
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Sancus BMS loans and loan equivalents at 31 December 2019
Stage 1 

£’000
Stage 2 

£’000
Stage 3 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Closing loans at 31 December 2018 44,602 3,449 4,266 52,317
New Loans 43,513 – – 43,513
Loans Repaid (22,399) (3,605) (4,266) (30,270)
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2* (9,762) 9,762 – –
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,650) – 1,650 –
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – (1,200) 1,200 –
Loans written off (116) – (941) (1,057)
Movement in ECL – 443 (714) (271)
Closing loans at 31 December 2019 54,188 8,849 1,195 64,232

Loss allowance at 31 December 2019
Stage 1 

£’000
Stage 2 

£’000
Stage 3 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Closing loss allowance at 31 December 2018 – 1,656 941 2,597
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – (1,200) 1,200 –
Increase in provision – 89 – 89
Financial assets transferred to Stage 3 – – 455 455
Financial assets transferred to Stage 2* – 1,088 – 1,088
Write Offs – – (941) (941)
Provision no longer required (loans repaid) – (420) – (420)
Closing loss allowance at 31 December 2019 – 1,213 1,655 2,868

*  An amount of £8,152,000 has been reclassified as Stage 2 in the prior year (previously classified as Stage 3 in the 2019 Financial statements). This related to trading 
difficulties which one of the borrowers had been experiencing. Trading is now back on track but full recovery of the loan is not expected. 

Financial assets transferred to Stage 3 relate to two loans where the security does not cover the outstanding loan value. 

Loans written off relates to a loan which was fully provided in the prior year.

Reconciliation of Provision for ECLs to charge in the statement of comprehensive income

Loans
£’000

Trade 
Debtors

£’000
Guarantees

£’000
Total

£’000

Loss allowance at 31 December 2019 2,868 311 – 3,179
Charge for the year 2020 1,238 1,885 1,542 4,665
Utilizations 93 (6) – 87
Loss allowance at 31 December 2020 4,199 2,190 1,542 7,931

For certain loans the range of outcomes for loss given default considered by the Directors is significant and therefore has a material impact 
on the calculation of ECL. If the probability weighting on each of the loans included in Stage 3 were increased by 20% or decreased by 20%, 
the total provision of £7.9m would increase by £1.3m or reduce by £2.1m respectively.
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued
(6) Market price risk
The Group has no exposure to market price risk of financial assets valued on a Level 1 basis as disclosed earlier in this note. 

(7) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Investments 
made in currencies other than Sterling are currently valued at £Nil and therefore there is no exposure on these. 

The exchange rates used by the Group to translate foreign currency balances are as follows:

Currency
31 December 

2020
30 June 

2020
31 December

2019
30 June 

2019
31 December

2018 

EUR 1.1202 1.1039 1.1815 1.1170 1.1094
USD 1.3664 1.2399 1.3259 1.2697 1.2743

The Treasury Committee monitors the Group’s currency position on a regular basis, and the Board of Directors reviews it on a quarterly basis. 
During the year the Treasury Committee and the Board have taken the decision to hedge loans denominated in Euros which are taken out 
through the HIT facility. Forward contracts to sell Euros at loan maturity dates are entered into when loans are drawn in Euros. The following 
forward foreign exchange contracts were open at the respective dates:

At 31 December 2020

Counterparty Settlement date
Buy

Currency

Buy 
Amount

£’000
Sell

currency

Sell 
amount

€’000

Unrealised
gain

£’000

EWealthGlobal Group Limited January 2021 to February 2022 GBP 4,121 Euro 4,641 (50)
Liberum Wealth Limited January 2021 to December 2021 GBP 8,062 Euro 8,854 144
Unrealised gain on forward foreign contracts 94

At 31 December 2019

Counterparty Settlement date
Buy 

Currency

Buy 
Amount 

£’000
Sell 

currency

Sell 
amount

€’000

Unrealised
gain

£’000

EWealthGlobal Group Limited December 2020 to January 2021 GBP 2,252 Euro 2,590 38
Liberum Wealth Limited February 2020 to November 2020 GBP 3,467 Euro 3,951 118
Unrealised gain on forward foreign contracts 156

No hedging has been taken out against investments in the FinTech Ventures platforms (2019: £Nil). 
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with the Directors/Executive Team
Non-executive Directors
As at 31 December 2020, the non-executive Directors’ annualised fees, excluding all reasonable expenses incurred in the course of their 
duties which were reimbursed by the Company, were as detailed in the table below: 

31 December
2020 

£

31 December
2019 

£

Patrick Firth (Chairman) 48,750 50,000
John Whittle 41,438 42,500
Nick Wakefield 34,125 35,000

On 4 June 2019 Mr Wakefield was appointed as a non-executive Director to the Board. Mr Wakefield’s directorships were listed in the RNS 
issued on 5 June 2019 and can be found on the Group’s website. Golf Investments Limited (‘Golf’), a subsidiary of Somerston, of which 
Mr Wakefield is a Director, holds 200,349,684 ordinary shares in the Company, representing 40.9 per cent of the current issued share capital. 
From time to time, the Somerston Group may participate as a Co-Funder in Sancus BMS loans. Other than this and the directors’ fees and 
expenses in relation to Mr Wakefield’s appointment as a director the Group does not transact with either Golf or Somerston. 

Directors’ fees were reduced in the third quarter of the year by 10%. Total Directors’ fees charged to the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2020 were £124,313 (31 December 2019: £112,589) with £Nil (31 December 2019: £31,875) remaining unpaid at the year-end.

Executive Team
The Executive team consists of Andrew Whelan, Emma Stubbs, Aaron Le Cornu (resigned 16 April 2020) and Dan Walker. The Executive 
Team members’ remuneration from the Company, excluding all reasonable expenses incurred in the course of their duties which were 
reimbursed by the Company, was as detailed in the table below: 

31 December
2020

£’000

31 December
2019

£’000

Aggregate remuneration in respect of qualifying service – fixed salary 646 727

Aggregate amounts contributed to Money Purchase pension schemes 48 101

Aggregate bonus paid 210 –

See remuneration report for further details. All amounts have been charged to Operating Expenses.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Directors’ and Persons Discharging Managerial Responsibilities (“PDMR”) shareholdings in the Company
The Directors and PDMRs had the following beneficial interests in the Ordinary Shares of the Company:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

No. of Ordinary
Shares Held

% of Ordinary
Shares

No. of Ordinary
Shares Held

% of Ordinary
Shares

Patrick Firth (Chairman) 367,966 0.08 278,669 0.09
John Whittle 138,052 0.03 104,550 0.03
Andrew Whelan 9,553,734 1.95 9,553,734 3.06
Emma Stubbs 1,380,940 0.28 1,380,940 0.44
Dan Walker 911,300 0.19 911,300 0.29

During the year and prior year no directors received dividends on their Ordinary Share holdings in the Company.

During the year Mr Whelan received £54,466 in relation to the coupon on his holding of £800,000 GLI Bonds which were repaid in full on 
21 December 2020.

Mr Walker has an outstanding unsecured loan from a subsidiary in the amount of £31,053. The loan is interest free and repayable on demand. 

From time to time members of key management personnel participate as co-funders in loans originated by the Group.

Transactions with connected entities
The following transactions with connected entities took place during the year: 

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Balance 
£’000

Interest 
accrued in 

the year 
£’000

Balance 
£’000

Interest 
accrued in 

the year 
£’000

Platform loans & corresponding interest
GLIF and investments in FinTech Ventures – – 1,800 448

31 December
2020 

£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000

Receivable from related parties
Sancus (IOM) Holdings Limited 2 –
Sancus (IOM) Limited 36 1
Amberton Asset Management Limited 11 12

Office and staff costs recharges
Amberton Asset Management Limited 41 35
Sancus (IOM) Limited 125 125

There is no ultimate controlling party of the Company. All platform loans and preference shares bear interest at a commercial rate.
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25. LEASES
The Group as Lessee
Maturity Analysis – contracted undiscounted cash flows

31 December
2020 

£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000

Within one year 240 267
In the second to fifth years inclusive 569 809
After five years – –
Total undiscounted cash flows 809 1,076

All lease commitments relate to office space.

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position
31 December

2020 
£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000

Current 188 211
Non-current 469 679
Total lease liabilities 657 890

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
31 December

2020 
£’000

31 December
2019 

£’000

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 208 231
Interest expense on lease liabilities 64 70
Expense related to short term leases 137 192
Income received from subleasing right-of-use assets – (19)

26. COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES
The Group’s commitments and guarantees are described below. 

HIT Facility
Sancus BMS Group has invested £6.3m (2019: £5m) of its own capital in Sancus Loans Limited which sits in a £5m first loss position as part 
of the HIT facility. GLI has also provided HIT with a guarantee, capped at £2m that it will continue to ensure the orderly wind down of the HIT 
related loan book, in the event of the insolvency of Sancus BMS Group, given its position as facility and security agent. Nothing has been 
provided in the accounts for this (2019: £Nil). 

Sancus Loan Notes
SLN5 was launched during 2018. Sancus BMS has no capital invested but has a 10% first loss position. At 31 December 2020 the loan note 
was £19.4m with a maximum raise limit of £50m.

Unfunded Commitments
As at 31 December 2020 the Group has unfunded commitments of £28.4m (31 December 2019: £21.4m). These unfunded commitments 
primarily represent the undrawn portion of development finance facilities. Drawdowns are conditional on satisfaction of specified conditions 
precedent, including that the borrower is not in breach of its representations or covenants under the loan or security documents. The 
figure quoted is the maximum exposure assuming that all such conditions for drawdown are met. Directors expect the majority of these 
commitments to be filled by Co-Funders. 
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27. POST YEAR END EVENTS 
Post year-end ZDP buybacks
On the 1 March 2021 the Company acquired 40,000 ZDPs at a price of 125.5 pence per ZDP share. On the 17th March 2021 15,000 ZDPs at 
a price of 130.0 pence per ZDP share were acquired and on 19 March 2021, 40,000 ZDPs were acquired at a price of 131.0 pence per share. 
Following these transactions, the Company has 20,791,418 ZDP Shares in issue, of which 12,104,030 ZDP Shares are held by the Company as 
treasury shares. The total number of voting rights associated with the ZDP Shares is therefore 8,687,388. 

Post year-end investment in FinTech Ventures
Post year-end £0.5m was redeployed in an existing investment where the particular circumstances were entirely binary, that on balance, 
the Board believed the risk reward was in GLI’s shareholders interest. 

Change of Name – Sancus BMS Group Limited
On the 17 March 2021 Sancus BMS Group Limited changed its name to Sancus Group Holdings Limited.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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